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FACING 
ADVERSITIES

Our Vision

Our ambition is to inspire the young people we work with, and be a 

partner to their success in driving change and transformation in their lives 

for a better future.

At Trybe, our doors are open to youth from all walks of life. We 

understand that every story is different, every adversity faced unique to 

each individual. Each path differs and the road to success is owned by 

every individual we guide and mentor. 

Success is not defined by a national standard, but one that is carved and 

shaped through personal experiences and tenacity. Our aspiration for 

every youth we mentor is for them to take charge of their lives in defining 

their own success story. We empower them to carry this determination 

into their future, inspiring others to make a positive impact to their 

communities.

Our Core Values
RESILIENCE
We desire to build resilience in our staff so that they can overcome 

adversity and emerge stronger.

INTEGRITY
We value integrity and trust our staff to make decisions guided by 

sound morals and ethics.

SERVING
We encourage our staff to serve and to go the extra mile for not only 

the youth they serve, but also colleagues and others around them.

EXCELLENCE
We want our staff to be excellent, expecting only the best from them.

Our Mission
Journey with youth who face 
adversities to lead purposeful lives; 
inspiring them to impact others
Life’s journey is never singular, and sometimes we need a helping hand 

along the way. 

At Trybe, we are committed to being that helping hand and helping youth 

through adversities in their life one step at a time. We believe everyone 

deserves equal opportunities to their peers and with a little support and 

mentorship, can succeed in their own way. 

We believe in cultivating the growth and spirit of youth through the 

collective collaboration of our passionate team and aspire to transform 

their lives into one with meaning, where they can unleash their full 

potential and drive purpose in their communities.   

Our ambition is to inspire the young people we work with, to be role 

models for them to reach out to, and challenge them to be the best they 

can be. 

At Trybe, success isn’t just about impacting positive change in the youth 

we work with today but how they can in turn inspire, support, and help 

people in the communities around them tomorrow.

Trybe runs various youth programmes and manages 
the Singapore Boys’ Hostel (SBHL). We provide youth 
with guidance and offer support for their families and 
communities, creating a complete ecosystem of care 
from community-based outreach and interventions, to 
individual in-care and aftercare services.



54

Objectives
1.	 To relieve the distress and hardships, and to promote the welfare 

of children in Singapore and in so far as may be permitted by the 

laws and regulations of Singapore, any country or countries, place 

or places, without differentiation on the ground of race, colour, 

nationality, creed or sex and to educate the public concerning the 

nature, causes and effects of distress, hardship and want of welfare 

as aforesaid and to make available the useful results thereof to the 

public. 

2.	 Within the limits of the charitable objects set out above to do all or 

any of the under-mentioned things:- 

i.	 to preserve child life wherever it is menaced by conditions of 

hardship and distress; 

ii.	 to relieve child distress by the provision of money, food, clothes, 

medical assistance, nursing and materials and facilities, help and 

assistance of whatsoever kind;

iii.	 to promote child welfare and all that may concern the well-

being of children in any charitable way including (without 

prejudice to that generality) by the provision of and support for 

the education of children (whether formal or informal, academic 

or vocational) for their proper nourishment, hygiene and health 

care (whether preventive or prescriptive, general or personal), 

for their better housing, for the provision of good water and 

sanitation, for the support of family life and child care (in any 

context), for their legal protection and representation, for the 

provision of their opportunity for sports, recreations, arts and 

crafts and for their security and safety; and 

iv.	 to enquire into the needs of those who may be benefitted 

hereunder the better to promote the charitable objects 

aforesaid. 

3.	 Generally to aid, assist and give relief in any manner and to any 

extent, including in the absolute discretion of the Directors of the 

Company the application of the whole or any part of the assets for 

the time being of the Company, to any charitable institution whose 

object or objects are similar to or comparable with the objects of this 

Company including but not limited to hospitals, sanatoria, homes or 

places of refuge or shelter, libraries, orphanages, industrial welfare 

establishments and other charitable organisations. 

Provided always that notwithstanding anything heretofore contained no 

grant, aid or assistance shall be given which shall be in aid of any political 

organisation or for any political purpose.

Strategic Direction
In 2020, the Executive Committee of Trybe developed its 3-year strategic 

plan. 

This 3-year strategic plan charts the initiatives required of the Company 

in order for it to achieve the goals set out. The strategic plan articulates 

not only where the Company is going and the actions needed to make 

progress, but also how it will know if it is successful.

The plan also set priorities, focus energy and resources, strengthen 

operations, ensure that employees and all other stakeholders are 

working toward common goals and establish agreement around intended 

outcomes/results.

Goal 1: Improve Trybe's Position

This goal looks into increasing the Company’s standing in the social 

service sector and the strength the Company poses. It focuses on i) Trybe’s 

brand recognition and reach to the public, ii) Company’s reputation as an 

employer and iii) Company’s organisational performance.

Goal 2: Improve Trybe's People

This goal looks into strengthening the employees in the Company. It 

focuses on i) staff development, ii) character forming and iii) establishing 

strong culture and ownership to the Company.

Goal 3: Improve Trybe's Practice
This goal looks into producing excellent services to meet the needs of 

the clients and stakeholders that the Company serves. It focuses on i) 

enhancing the effectiveness and efficiency of services, and ii) expanding 

the services provided.

Trybe's 
Milestones

1995
	Ҋ Started as "Save the Children Singapore Limited"

2021
	Ҋ Launched Project ANCHOR Programme
	Ҋ Launched Bridge to Employment (BTE) Programme

2020
	Ҋ Launched Building Eco-Systems (BES) Programme

2019
	Ҋ Continued Youth-At-Risk Engagement (YARE) under 

Chrysalis branding
	Ҋ Shifted focus on programmes targeting at-risk youth
	Ҋ Launched Overcoming Addictions Securing Youths' 

Success (OASYS) Programme

2018
	Ҋ Established Trybe's Practice and Development Unit

2016
	Ҋ State-appointed as one of the 10 agencies which ran 

the 3-year pilot programme Youth-At-Risk Engagement 
(YARE)

	Ҋ Integrated Restorative Practices (RP) into our 
rehabilitation philosophy

2015
	Ҋ Launched Growing Resilient Youth in Transition (GRYT) 

Programme

2014
	Ҋ State-appointed managing agent of the Community 

Rehabilitation Centre (CRC)
	Ҋ Partnership with Youth Corps Singapore (YCS)

2011
	Ҋ State-appointed managing agent of the Singapore Boys' 

Hostel (SBHL)

2010
	Ҋ Renamed to Trybe Limited

2009
	Ҋ Started running Time-Out Programme (TOP)

2008
	Ҋ Attained Institution of a Public Character (IPC) status

2007
	Ҋ Led mentoring and service learning programmes at the 

Singapore Boys' Home (SBH) and Singapore Girls' Home 
(SGH)

2006
	Ҋ Took the "You Can Do It" Programme to Thailand

2005
	Ҋ Piloted Life Coaching Programme

2001
	Ҋ Launched school-based services and programmes
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CEO's
Message

Message from Chair & CEO

We have been through a lot in the past year. Yet Trybe and its mission 

remain unchanged. No matter how much adversity we face, we never 

gave up. 

As many of us navigated through the changes brought about by 

the pandemic, our team has also experienced transitions internally. 

Having been appointed as Chief Executive Officer in November, I 

am heartened to witness the grit, compassion, and dedication of the 

entire Trybe team as we do the challenging but necessary work for 

many young people facing adversities.  

We continued to improve the way we serve the youth. Having 

recognised the rising mental health concerns among adolescents, 

Trybe launched Project ANCHOR, a pilot counselling programme for 

youth with mental health issues. We are also fortunate to be Johnson 

& Johnson’s first agency partner in Singapore for their Bridge to 

Employment (BTE) Programme. BTE aims to encourage young people 

to pursue and develop their interest in science and technology through 

career mentorship and STEM2D career exploration activities. At the 

Singapore Boys’ Hostel, we have trained our staff with a Trauma-

Informed Care (TIC) approach to better support the hostel residents. 

To increase Trybe’s outreach efforts, we launched our very first Youth 

Rising Month—an annual campaign that aims to establish a dedicated 

month that raises awareness of issues surrounding the youth that 

we serve. We produced our very own Resilience Mask with the help 

of a generous corporate partner and saw several individuals adopt 

the masks. These masks were then distributed to the youth and their 

families as a symbol of encouragement and support. 

With an aim of reaching out to more individuals who can benefit 

from our programmes, we have also pivoted towards more content 

campaigns and online fundraising initiatives, which you’ll see reflected 

in the following pages.

Trybe also successfully celebrated its 26 years of journeying with 

youth through a virtual run, staff canvassing, and donation campaign. 

We couldn’t have reached this important milestone if it weren’t for 

the unwavering support of our staff and stakeholders.

While 2021 has been a tough year for all, I am truly inspired by my 

colleagues, our clients, and other stakeholders who have risen to 

unprecedented challenges. I am honoured to lead and serve in Trybe 

and I am looking forward to journeying with more youth facing 

adversities. My hope is that the community continues to support our 

vision—Every Youth A Success Story.

Vimel Rajoo
Chief Executive Officer

Chair's
Message

For over two decades, Trybe has purposed to uphold our core values. I 

have seen the team run our programmes and services with resilience, 

integrity, serving heart and excellence. This is especially evident 

during the height of the pandemic over the past two years.

We continue to adapt to changes as we understand the emerging 

needs of the youth. In 2021, Trybe launched Project ANCHOR, a pilot 

counselling programme for young people dealing with mental health 

issues. As mental health concerns significantly increase in Singapore, 

we aim to help our youth navigate this difficult journey and apply 

the lessons learnt as they transition into adulthood. No one should 

journey alone.

We are also blessed to be chosen as Johnson & Johnson’s (J&J) 

agency partner to run their Bridge to Employment (BTE) Programme 

in Singapore. A quadrilateral partnership involving FHI360, J&J, 

Jurongville Secondary School, and Trybe, BTE provides career 

mentorship and STEM2D exploration activities. It is an exciting 

opportunity for those who want to pursue their interest in science 

and technology.

COVID-19 has opened our eyes to many insights and ways of better 

serving our youth and their families. With the pandemic affecting 

our way of life and work, Trybe remained connected with our staff, 

clients, and continued to collaborate with like-minded individuals and 

partners to add value to our work with the youth.

At Trybe, we have always considered the interest of the youth our one 

true north. We care for them and their families as if they were our 

own. To date, we have served more than 150,000 youths through our 

programmes and services. 

I am also pleased to welcome our new Chief Executive Officer, Vimel 

Rajoo. Vimel has been serving in Trybe for eight years and I am 

confident that he will lead the team to even greater heights! I would 

like to express my appreciation to our staff, volunteers, partners and 

stakeholders for giving your best, showing up so meaningfully always. 

I look forward with much hope as we seek to do our best, for every 

youth to be a success story.

Rachel Ong
Co-founder & Chair
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Board of Directors
Chairperson 

Ms Rachel Ong 
Director since 9 January 2001

Appointed Chairman on 27 May 2015

Rachel helped start the work of Trybe in 2001.  She continues to give inspirational leadership to Trybe, providing 

consistent guidance on strategies to fulfil Trybe's vision. Rachel's passion for honouring people and results has been 

critical to Trybe’s development and growth. She continues to value-add and contribute to the professionalism in 

Trybe.  Rachel’s wide network and fundraising efforts have been and always will be a tremendous support for Trybe.

Rachel is also the founder and Chief Executive of ROHEI Corporation and serves as a Member of the Singapore 

Parliament.

Treasurer

Mdm Julia Wong Fei Yen
Director since 1 June 2007

Appointed Treasurer on 25 May 2019

Julia is an authority in communications, public affairs and public relations.  She has been with the Board since 2007 

imparting her experience in communications with Trybe.  Julia will continue to serve in the Board to implement strong 

governance within Trybe and to guide the team achieve best and up to date work practices, further strengthening 

Trybe’s position in the Social Service space. 

Director

Mr Ng Lok Man (Daniel)
Director since 6 September 2007

Daniel, currently a Managing Director at BNP Paribas was a volunteer Life Coach in Trybe in 2005. In 2007, he joined 

the Board and since then has been providing Trybe significant advice and guidance with regards to the Company’s 

fiscal matters.  Daniel will continue to act as Trybe’s financial advisor and play a key role in providing direction for 

Trybe’s fundraising strategies and programmes.

Director

Ms Ingrid Christina Hanson 
Director since 12 July 2000

An advocate of the many helping hands approach, Ingrid has been an avid supporter of Trybe’s work and is passionate 

about strengthening family ties.  Ingrid has been with the Board since 2000 and will continue to serve in the Board 

to forge collaborative relationships between Trybe and other agencies to develop a common agenda for action, 

leverage resources and tap into outside expertise.

Director

Mdm Wong Kee Yin (Praise) 
Director since 17 November 2015

An advocate of innovation, change, and experiential approach 

to learning, Praise has been providing unwavering support 

and commitment to Trybe since 2001. Praise holds a Bachelor 

of Law from National University of Singapore and a Master's 

Degree of Training and Development from Griffith University, 

Australia. With her 20 years of experience in the Learning and 

Development industry, Praise is highly regarded for her advice 

on the organisation’s growth and development. She is currently 

the Deputy Chief Executive at ROHEI and has consulted with 

government agencies and local and global companies to help 

build a culture of change and innovation.

Director

Ms Pamelia Lee 
Director since 2 November 1995 (resgined on 13 August 2021)

Mrs Pamelia Lee was the founding Chairperson of Trybe 

Limited. She was key to rallying support to set up the charity 

in the beginning.  

A visionary keen on restoration and rehabilitation, Mrs Lee has 

developed networks to advise on the work that Trybe does. 

Actively, she continues to provide guidance and rallies support 

and fundraising efforts for Trybe. 
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Board Matters
Board Composition
The Board of Trybe Limited shall comprise of Directors who are suitably qualified.

The Board shall comprise of the following office bearers, minimally:

Chairman: The Chairman provides leadership to the Board, ensures the effective action of 

the Board in governing and supporting Trybe, and oversees Board affairs. The 

Chairman acts as the representative of the Board as a whole.

The Treasurer manages the Board’s review of, and action related to, the Board’s 

financial responsibilities. Where necessary, the Treasurer may work directly 

with the finance executives to develop and implement appropriate financial 

procedures and systems.

The Secretary maintains records of the Board and ensures effective 

management of corporate records.

Treasurer:

Secretary:

Appointment of Directors / Board Members
Directors and/or Board Members may be appointed at any time with the 

requisite documentary evidence.

Potential candidates for Directorships should be presented to the Board, 

reviewed by Board Members and finally approved and appointed by the 

Chairman (or his/her designated representative in his/her absence).

Term of Appointment of Directors / 
Board Members
As a guide, all appointments and terms of appointment of Directors 

shall follow that stipulated in the Constitution.

A Letter of Appointment detailing the position and commencement 

date shall be issued by the Chairman to all newly appointed 

Directors/Board Members.  The signed Letters of Appointment 

shall be kept by the Secretary or Chief Executive Officer, and/or 

his/her authorised officers, on behalf of the Chairman.

The Treasurer of the Board may hold office for a period of not more 

than four (4) consecutive years. 

Re-appointment of Directors / Board 
Members
The re-appointment of Directors shall also follow conditions which 

are stipulated in the Constitution.

Re-appointment to the office of the Treasurer will be subjected to 

a lapse of one (1) year. 

Board Duties
Each Director / Board Member may be assigned a specific task 

or duty, as appointed by the Chairman. These may include, but 

are not limited to, Project Directors, Chairmen or Members of any 

Sub-Committees.

Succession Planning
The Board recognises the need for succession planning for Directors 

/ Board Members including Directors holding key positions, such as 

the Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer.  This is factored in the sourcing 

and appointment process for new Directors. On an annual basis, 

the Board reviews the remaining term of appointments of the 

key positions of Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer and proposes 

candidates to take over these positions in due course.

Attendance
Name of 

Board 
Member

Board 
Meeting

(27 August 2021)

Board 
Meeting

(9 March 2021)

Board 
Meeting

(17 December 
2021)

Annual 
General 
Meeting

(21 May 2021)

Meetings and Board Members' Attendance

Ms Rachel 
Ong Sin Yen

Mdm Wong 
Kee Yin

Mdm Julian 
Wong Fei 

Yan

Mr Daniel Ng 
Lok Man

Ms Ingrid 
Christina 
Handson

Mrs Pamelia 
Lee

Disclosure for Terms of Directorships 
Beyond 10 Years
There are four Members of the Board of Directors who have served for 

more than 10 years. Trybe is privileged to have engaged Board Members 

of diverse backgrounds, personally and professionally, and became the 

strongest advocates and great ambassadors for all its causes all these 

years. Trybe will continue to examine the benefits of keeping long 

tenured Board Members.

Board Self-Evaluation
The Board conducts a self-evaluation regularly and reviews the results 

of the self-evaluation during the Board Meetings and makes decisions 

and takes actions to address areas that need improvement. The manner 

and/or format of the evaluation will be designed by the Chief Executive 

Officer with guidance of the Chairman.

Board Training
Directors / Board Members undergo periodic training to improve their 

knowledge and skills to effectively carry out their duties and bring 

them current on governance issues.

Remuneration of Directors / Board 
Members
Members of the Board of Directors do not receive remuneration for their 

services.

Conflict of Interest
All Directors / Board Members of the Company make annual declarations 

of conflict of interest(s). 

There were no recorded conflict of interest in the Company during the 

reporting period.

4/4

4/4

3/4

4/4

4/4

0/4

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Resigned

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Resigned
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In addition, the Chairman of the Audit Committee will call a meeting 

of the Audit Committee if so requested by any member of the Audit 

Committee, the Chairman of the Board or the external auditor of the 

Company.

Human Resources Committee

The Human Resources Committee of Trybe Limited has been 

established to perform the following functions:

i.	 Providing guidance and advice to the Executives in drafting and/or 

revision of Human Resources Policy for Trybe Limited;

ii.	 Providing guidance and advice to the executives when reviewing job 

descriptions;

iii.	 Providing guidance and advice in establishing a salary structure, and 

annually reviewing staff salaries, and reviewing the benefits package.

While the Human Resources Committee of Trybe Limited does not 

perform the role as Grievance Board for employee complaints, all 

complaints against staff and senior management are made directly to 

the Human Resources Department, Head, Corporate Services Division 

and/or Chief Executive Officer. The Human Resources Committee 

of Trybe Limited, however, will hear cases and/or act when formal 

written grievances against the Chief Executive Officer is made.

The Human Resources Committee should meet often enough to 

undertake its role effectively, and schedule to meet not less than 

twice a year.  In addition, the Chairman of the Human Resources 

Committee will call a meeting of the Human Resources Committee 

if so requested by any member of the Human Resources Committee, 

the Chairman of the Board or the external auditor of the Company.

Board Sub-Committees
The Company has established three (3) sub-committees, namely, Audit, 

Human Resources and Fundraising, with their respective Committee 

Chairman, Members and Terms of Reference as appropriate.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee facilitates the external and internal audit of 

Trybe Limited, for the Board to obtain independent information about 

Trybe Limited’s activities. The Treasurer shall not concurrently chair 

the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

ii.	 To oversee the financial reporting and disclosure process, and 

monitor the choice of accounting policies and principles;

iii.	 To review the audit plans and reports of the external auditors and 

internal auditors, and considers the effectiveness of the actions 

taken by management on the auditors’ recommendations;

iv.	 To conduct periodic internal checks on key processes to ensure 

compliance with the established procedures, and report to the 

Board on the findings and recommendations for improvements;

v.	 To analyse and address the risks that are associated with the key 

processes;

vi.	 To oversee regulatory compliance and whistleblower guidelines 

(where applicable);

vii.	 To report to the Board of any financial irregularities, concerns 

and opportunities; and

viii.	 To liaise with auditors on any significant matters arising.

The Audit Committee should meet often enough to undertake its role 

effectively, and schedule to meet not less than twice a year.  

Audit Committee

Chairman	         Mr Ng Lok Man                      Appointed 25 May 2019

Member           Mdm Wong Kee Yin              Appointed 18 May 2018

Human Resources Committee

Chairman	         Ms Rachel Ong                     Appointed 23 June 2008

Member           Mrs Pamelia Lee         Resigned as of 13 August 2021

Fundraising Committee

Chairman	         Mr Ng Lok Man               Appointed 26 November 2020

Member           Mdm Wong Kee Yin      Appointed 26 November 2020

Fundraising Committee

The Fundraising Committee of Trybe Limited has been established to 

perform the following functions:

i.	 Advises the Board on any fundraising matter.

ii.	 Provides the direction for the development of fundraising strategies 

for the Company.

iii.	 Implements, monitors and evaluates the fundraising strategy once 

it is adopted.

iv.	 Identifies potential donors / funders.

v.	 Leads the planning of certain fundraising activities, such as Gala 

Dinners, Charity Golf, etc 

vi.	 Assists in recruitment, engagements, and appreciation of donors / 

funders. 

The Fundraising Committee does not take actions or make decisions 

on behalf of the Company unless specifically mandated by the Board.  

The Committee will make recommendations to the Board on all matters 

requiring a decision.

The Fundraising Committee should meet often enough to undertake its 

role effectively, and schedule to meet as and when necessary.



15

Executive Committee
Executive Team Remuneration, 
Benefits and Conflict of Interest
No staff of the Charity is involved in setting his own compensation, 

increment, and bonus.

The Charity has no paid staff who are members of the family of the 

Chief Executive Officer nor Directors / Board Members during the 

reporting period.

There were no recorded conflict of interest in the Company 

during the reporting period.

Remuneration of Top Three Key 
Executives

Salary Band Number of Staff

Between $100,000 and $200,000

Below $100,000

2

1

These three staff nor any staff of the Charity serve as Board 

Members of the Charity.

Organisation Structure
Board of Directors

Technology &
Infrastructure

Human
Resources

Finance

Corporate
Services

Rehabilitation &
Reintegration

Outreach &
Intervention

Practice & Service
Development

Operations
& Care

Programmes &
Rehabilitation

Singapore
Boys' Hostel

Casework &
Counselling

Chief Executive Officer

Strategy &
Development

Community &
Youth Services

Chief Executive Officer
Vimel Rajoo 
Appointed on 6 November 2021 

Vimel joined Trybe in 2014 and served 

in several different roles before his 

appointment as the Chief Executive 

Officer. As the CEO, he directs the 

Company to achieve its mission and bring about transformation to 

the clients. Vimel believes that networking is important as everyone 

can play a part to bring change to society. He is open to have a 

coffee chat with like-minded individuals and is willing to contribute 

where possible. Vimel is also in the first batch of NCSS 40 Under 40 

Leadership Programme.

Vimel graduated with a Master of Business Administration and 

a Master of Social Work. He is a certified Project Management 

Professional, Certified Change Management Practitioner and 

Certified Data Protection Practitioner. Vimel also has a Post-Graduate 

Diploma in Communications and Innovation and an Advanced Award 

in Organisation Design and Development.

Head, Singapore Boys' Hostel
Yeo Bee Lian
Appointed on 1 January 2018 

Prior to joining Trybe, Bee Lian spent 

her time mentoring and coaching 

youth in netball and tchoukball. Her 

internship stint with Trybe during her 

undergraduate days left a significant 

impact on her life, and she eventually joined Trybe full-time in 2010 

after graduating with a Bachelor in Social Science (Psychology) 

from Singapore Management University. While she had honed 

her skills in youth development training, programme design and 

business development areas during the first few years, she found 

her true passion in serving youth who are viewed as more at-risk. 

She assumed leadership of the Programmes Division in late 2014, 

and was involved in the progressive shift in our service direction to 

focus on youth facing adversities. She was involved in setting up the 

GRYT service in 2015 and leading the Youth-At-Risk Engagement 

(YARE) programme in 2016, before moving over to learn and lead the 

rehabilitation work in Singapore Boys’ Hostel in 2018.

Outside of work, Bee Lian cherishes time spent in the company of 

family and close friends. She enjoys playing tennis, cycling, swimming 

and picking up new hobbies.

Chief Secretary &
Head, Corporate Services Division
Cristela Yeo
Appointed on 1 January 2018

As Head of Corporate Services 

Division, Cristela delivers critical 

support and coordination role for 

the whole Company. On top of the 

Division's activities, she ensures every staff in the Company is supported 

to effectively and productively function. While it can be overwhelming 

juggling many tasks at once, Cristela’s cheerful disposition and warm 

personality, make her the best person for the job. With an eye for 

detail and excellent organisational skill, Cristela ensures the integrity 

of Company-wide information, strict implementation of structure and 

protocols, compliance and strong governance, and provision of a safe 

and conducive environment for all staff and other stakeholders.

Cristela is also known as Cris to her colleagues. She graduated with 

a Bachelor of Science in Commerce and majored in Accounting. Her 

extensive experience in office administration and as a personal assistant 

to high-net-worth individuals before joining Trybe has equipped her 

with valuable skillsets to deal with the day-to-day running of the offices 

and to keep them shipshape.

Head, Human Resources Department
Elyna Wee
Appointed on 16 February 2021

Elyna’s main responsibility is 

to oversee areas ranging from 

recruitment of staff, staff welfare and 

benefits, to Human Resources (HR) 

development which includes training,
performance appraisal and career planning. She graduated with an 

Honours Degree in Materials Engineering and a Graduate Diploma in 

Training and Development.

Since she started her career, Elyna has been championing the development 

of people. Her achievements include overseeing performance management 

exercises for non-managerial staff, administering training programmes, 

supervising external and internal scholarships, leading orientation 

programmes for new employees, and spearheading various HR events. 

Evidently, seeing people excel in their careers brings much joy to Elyna.

Prior to joining Trybe, Elyna was in China for five years with her husband 

who was posted there for work. She found the experience to be humbling 

as it presented a different perspective of life when living abroad and 

through these experiences, she learnt to be grateful for the little things. 

Elyna is convinced that giving back to society is not a want but a necessity. 

She aspires to build a strong HR and people-centric culture in Trybe so 

that more talent can be attracted to the social service sector.
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Spectrum
of Services
In Trybe, we recognise that youth in Singapore 
are faced with different adversities in life. These 
adversities require different levels of support 
and Trybe is committed to provide a spectrum of 
services, ensuring that the different needs of youth 
are met.

Our services are instrumental in helping youth map 
out and embark on their new life journeys. The 
programmes not only equip our clients with life 
skills, but also illuminate an alternate pathway lined 
with opportunities for a better future. This vision 
of a new, different life path is crucial in allowing 
youth to see that they have something promising to 
work towards, and that illicit habits are not the only 
escape from their existing reality.

16

Intervention
	Ҋ Chrysalis
	Ҋ OASYS
	Ҋ Project ANCHOR
	Ҋ BES
	Ҋ BTE

Rehabilitation
	Ҋ SBHL
	Ҋ OASYS

Reintegration

Trybe’s intervention service targets youth in the 
community who possess significant personal or 
environmental factors that put them and others at 
risk. This service is designed to leverage community 
and professional support to steer the youth toward 
a life that will contribute positively to society.

Trybe’s rehabilitation service primarily targets 
youth who are in an institution and/or require 
continuous support to help them rehabilitate. It 
also aims to support young people who are exposed 
to substance addiction, reducing the risk of them 
offending/re-offending.

	Ҋ OASYS
	Ҋ GRYT
	Ҋ BES

Trybe’s reintegration service primarily targets youth 
who have been discharged from an institution and 
require continuous support to help them reintegrate 
back into society. 
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Chrysalis

A community-
based intervention 
programme that works 
with youth presenting 
at-risk behaviours
Chrysalis aims to attend to the youth's needs and guide them away from risk behaviours, provide emotional support, improve family 

relationships and help them to thrive in school/work environment. This programme involves assessing the youth and their families’ 

needs, behaviours and interactions, providing a holistic understanding of the issues. In the course of intervention, the case 

workers will engage the family in committing to and supporting the process. 

Approach
Real change is not just behaviour modification but intrinsic motivation
Besides collaborating with stakeholders to enhance intervention, Chrysalis focuses on building a therapeutic alliance with the youth 

client. Instead of making a moral judgment on the youth’s behaviours, the Chrysalis worker seeks to understand the youth's underlying 

motivation and needs. This intrinsic motivation or decision-making can only be influenced by connecting with the needs of the youth, 

such as attending to their emotions. Therefore, the caseworkers invest their time in building a trusting relationship as the key foundation 

of the intervention.

Chrysalis

Strengthening Family Relationships
To further reduce the barriers in the help-seeking process, our 

caseworkers reach out to their clients in environments that 

are familiar and comfortable to them. It is important for family 

members to understand the youth better, as it helps to improve 

the family relationship, allowing the youth to open up more. We 

believe that a strong family bond is essential to a youth’s journey. 

Therefore, to achieve that, we focus on improving interaction 

patterns that can strengthen family ties and promote connecting 

habits within the family.

Clients
Chrysalis serves youth between 12 to 21 years old who 

present risks and needs in the area of behaviours, peer 

or family relationships

Goals of Service
Chrysalis targets to achieve the following 7 intervention 

goals. As needs and impact of intervention varies between 

youth, the intervention goals can include most, if not all of 

the following outcomes:

1.	 Reduce risk behaviours

2.	 Increase mental and emotional resilience

3.	 Increase coping strategies and skills

4.	 Improve familial and social interaction

5.	 Improve network of community support such as 

mental health resources

6.	 Increase abilities to engage with purposeful 

activities

7.	 Increase help-seeking behaviours
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|  What does Chrysalis stand for?
In nature, Chrysalis is the protective shell a caterpillar takes on before 

emerging as a butterfly. This transition is possible because of the 

protection and nurturing environment that the Chrysalis provides. 

Similarly, at Chrysalis, we believe that youth also possess this capability 

to transform into success stories when they are given the right support 

and environment to grow into.

|  What do you like about being part of the Chrysalis team?
I believe that every youth has the potential to be the best version of 

themselves and they are the leaders of their own life. Chrysalis gave me 

the privilege to journey with our youth and play a part (however small 

it may be) in shaping how they see themselves and believing in their 

abilities to make a difference.

|  What are some of the reasons behind youth's risky behaviours?
There are many reasons why youth are drawn to risky behaviours. The 

adolescent stage is a stormy journey with endless quests of trying to 

find one’s “true” self. Peer pressure, the need to “fit in”, and the need to 

let go of suppressed emotions due to multiple stressors in their lives are 

all potential reasons to engage in risky behaviours. Youth are also more 

likely to react based on their emotions instead of using logic to solve 

problems.

|  How does Chrysalis guide youth away from risk behaviors?
Chrysalis focuses on engaging the youth to have a deeper understanding 

of what they want for themselves. We take on a supportive role as they 

themselves, decide how they want to grow. No man is an island and 

our youth's behaviours are sometimes a product of their environment. 

Hence, it is important for us to also engage the various stakeholders 

in our youth's lives to work together and support them in their growth 

journey. Youth tend to have many interests and can benefit a lot from 

experiential learning. Having this in mind, we have organised activities 

such as cycling, ice-skating, art-jamming and also introducing our youth 

to professionals in the industry that they are interested in broadening 

their perspectives.

|  How can the community help support these youth?
The community can help by looking out for youth who are struggling. 

Encourage them to seek support and most importantly, believe in youth's 

ability to become a stronger version of themselves. The community can 

also refer a youth to Trybe or any relevant service agencies for support. 

They do not have to be on this journey alone and we are here to walk 

alongside them.  

From The Heart of Chrysalis

Claudia Tan 
Social Worker, Outreach and Intervention Services

Claudia is grateful to be given the opportunity to work alongside young people facing adversities. As she believes that 

with the right support and unconditional positive regard, they can journey towards creating a more fulfilling life for 

themselves.

No man is 
an island... 
We are here 
to walk 
alongside 
them.

“

Chrysalis

- Claudia Tan,
   Trybe's Social Worker

Success Story
Opening Doors: Teenage Girl Restores Relationship with Parents
Growing up with her grandmother, Rachel’s parents seemed absent in her life. Rachel’s relationship with her mother was particularly strained 

that she would explicitly tell her that she resents her. 

She often shuts herself in her room, gets easily agitated and quick to quarrel with her parents. “Everytime I came out, we would fight about 

the little things,” Rachel recounted, “the only ones I could share issues with were my friends”.

“It was very hostile”, her mother agreed. Rachel did not enjoy studying either and had frequent feelings of inadequacy as she often put herself 

down. Soon after, her mother chanced upon Trybe’s Chrysalis programme. Fortunately, Rachel agreed to sign up. 

With the help of her Social Worker, Claudia, Rachel learnt to set a goal in life, and find the career she wished to embark on. Subsequently, the 

programme focused on mending her relationship with her mother.

Through the many sessions, Rachel gradually improved her way of thinking and is more open to trying new things. This change in her led to 

better relationships in her life too. “When she started to be kind and forgiving to herself, that was when she started being kind to others 

[especially her parents]”, Claudia, explained.

Subsequently, Rachel learnt to open her doors—both literally and figuratively. Now, she leaves her bedroom door open and no longer picks 

fights with her parents. She even started discussing sensitive issues with her mother, opening herself up to her.

As their relationship improved, Rachel found out that her mother actually visited her at her grandmother’s house frequently. She never knew 

because as a toddler, she was often asleep, and her mother had to rush back to work due to her hectic work schedule.

True to this, her mother shared an incident that happened recently that touched her heart, despite struggling to wake up early or hating to 

go for walks, Rachel woke up early to accompany her mother to Fort Siloso. Her mother commented “I was actually very surprised that day, 

she woke up by herself!” 

Through journeying with her social worker, Rachel realised her interest and shared that she wants to be a piano teacher. Working towards 

her goal, Rachel is now diligently taking Grade 7 piano lessons. Indeed, everyone has different journeys, and there is no need to fit a standard 

academic pathway.

Rachel is now happier and at ease with herself. She is more confident and is glad that she went through with the programme. She is thankful 

for the programme and her Social Worker, Claudia, for listening and being a pillar of support to her. Rachel also shared that she believes that 

this programme is able to help others and would recommend it to other youth that might be struggling too.

“Some youth may avoid seeking help because they don’t want to be seen 

as weak or not in control,” Claudia explains, “or because others dismiss 

their issues so they think it is not significant enough to seek help for.” 

Seeking help is not a sign of weakness. Whereas, accepting help is a 

sign of strength. It is okay not to be okay. There is no perfect person or 

journey; in truth, we are always constantly discovering ourselves.
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Highlights of 2021

Art Jamming
Art jamming was one of the activities that greatly helped our 

Chrysalis clients. Not only was it used as a bonding activity for some 

of our clients and their family members, this year, art jamming was 

introduced to help our clients to learn more about self-confidence 

through art. Through art jamming, Rachel, one of our Chrysalis 

clients who participated in this activity, was able to relate this to her 

circumstance. She realised that overthinking leads to overpainting 

and it can ruin an already good artwork. In relation to her personal 

life, Rachel realised that overthinking without clarifying will lead to 

more misunderstanding and further affect her mental health. Today, 

her art piece is displayed in the living room and is something that she 

and her family admire with pride and joy from time to time.

Art Installation - Shadowology with 
Springfield Secondary School
East Community Collaboration (E.C.C.), made of 3 agencies (Trybe, 

Care Corner FSC – Tampines and SAMH), partnered with Springfield 

Secondary School to craft experiential sessions for students. Led by 

SAMH, these sessions help students to understand mental health 

issues and also provide relevant resources for students and families 

to seek help when necessary. Shadowology workshop is a reflective 

process to engage participants to address and manage mental health 

issues. The elements of the workshop reflects that of mental health. 

On 23 June, we conducted a shadowology workshop for over 90 

Springfield Secondary School teachers. Our goal was to equip them 

to conduct this art installation in their Character and Citizenship 

Education (CCE) lessons for their Secondary 1 students. 

Claudia Tan, Social Worker

Managing WFH as a new 
staff

Imagine starting work by meeting all your new colleagues 

through a screen, you start to wonder are they even real or 

what are they really like. Well, there is no need to imagine, as 

with this pandemic, this is the new normal. Being a new staff 

and needing to learn new procedures without your colleagues 

and supervisors physically by your side can get frustrating and 

scary at times. There is constant fear that you are bothering 

your new colleagues when they, too, are probably trying to 

adapt to the new arrangements. 

Social interaction plays a big part of everybody’s work life and 

the support from your fellow colleagues is usually what helps 

you get through even the toughest of cases. Nonetheless, my

Bryan Chan, Case Worker

Managing transitions 
into fatherhood

It has been difficult to manage the adjustment to work from 

home (WFH) and not being able to interact with colleagues 

and spending most of my time at home. This became more 

challenging after May 2021 as I had to take care of my new 

born as well. It became more difficult to concentrate on work 

as the baby would constantly scream or cry. I would have to 

help to watch or feed the baby during the day, interrupting my 

work. There were times where I had to take last minute leave 

to care or take the baby to the hospital. All these things added 

on to the general stress of living with the Covid restrictions 

and WFH. 

What helped was the support from friends and colleagues. 

Overtime, I also became used to the routine of caring for the 

baby which made it easier. Having my own time away to care 

for myself from the baby is also important. 

colleagues have been so 

supportive by checking in and 

offering to help without me 

asking. All these simple actions 

helped me adapt faster and the 

Company also organised regular 

virtual get-togethers. This helped 

me to feel more connected to 

the rest of the Company. During 

normal times, we may overlook 

these simple actions but during 

such trying days, these simple 

actions speak volumes. 

Overcoming Restrictions of Covid-19
Much like our youth and every working adult in these times, the Chrysalis team was not spared from the problems and limitations caused by the 

pandemic. Here's how the Chryalis Team managed to stay resilient during this period.
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A programme 
that provides 
prevention 
awareness and 
intervention 
support on 
substance 
addiction
Project OASYS is an integrated system of care focusing on a holistic community-based 

service. It consists of outreach and engagement, case management and treatment 

services for youth who struggle with substance-related issues. Through the treatment, 

the youth will be equipped with strategies to cope with dependency and prevent relapse.

Approach
Journeying with youth to seek help
Youth who have substance addiction often feel lost and confused. They face a lot of 

stress and emotional pressures. Thoughts of changing or seeking help would have come 

across their minds but they fear the judgement people might pass on them.  Very often, 

the stigmatisation against substance users have acted as a barrier for youth to seek help. 

By providing the treatment programme at the youth’s organic setting, it lowers their 

barrier of entry to seek help. This would also increase the effectiveness of the treatment 

simultaneously. Our OASYS team is committed to journeying with and guiding them 

towards the right channels of help.

OASYS
(Overcoming Addictions Securing Youths' Successes)

OASYS

Success Story
Overcoming Addictions: A Youth's Journey in Making Better Decisions
Subject to peer pressure, Shamira took her first cigarette at a young age of fourteen. “At first I was scared when they asked me to try, but 

they forced me.” Shamira said, as she recalled the start of everything. Unfortunately, it didn’t stop there. Following this incident, Shamira was 

exposed to drinking and consuming drugs. 

Situations turned for the worse when Shamira’s performance in school started to take a downfall. Her academic performance declined and 

she was also involved in a lot of troubles at school, such as bullying and fighting others.

“Home life was filled with tension and stress. I had a lot of problems” Shamira shared. “Everytime I’m stressed, I will smoke and drink.” Before 

she knew it, these substances became a part of her life. It didn’t take long for the law to catch up, and shortly after, Shamira found herself 

apprehended by the Central Narcotics Bureau (CNB).  

Mending Her Ways

Upon apprehension, Shamira started to reflect and look back on her past actions. She was filled with remorse and questioned her decisions 

that made her turn to substances to overcome stress. When her form teacher subsequently referred her to Trybe’s OASYS programme, she 

agreed. 

“I was very scared. I’m also not a person who talks much to someone I just met.” Shamira shares. Helga, Shamira’s Social Worker, agreed but 

that did not stop Helga. She saw a lot of potential in Shamira and slowly built the rapport with her. Now, Shamira is very comfortable around 

Helga and she has become someone Shamira will confide in. 

Clients
OASYS serves youth between the ages of 11 and 

21 who are exposed to or currently engaged in 

substance addiction and are keen to seek help. It also 

serves youth who require extended help after prior 

addiction support and treatment.

Goals of OASYS
Through OASYS, we want to create early prevention 

awareness among youth through our outreach platforms 

for substance addiction problems. Additionally, we want 

to offer treatment to youth who face issues related to 

substance addiction and help reduce recidivism rates.

The Turning Point

Through the OASYS sessions, Shamira learnt the importance 

of having a healthy social circle and steering away from friends 

who will influence her negatively. She also found positive coping 

mechanisms to help her manage her stress. She now picks up 

hobbies like dancing, filming TikTok videos and meeting up with 

positive groups of friends instead of turning to substances. On 

top of that, Helga also guided her in processing her thoughts and 

emotions so that she can identify what she is feeling. 

“By helping her become more aware of her actions and its 

consequences, she is able to process her thoughts and stress 

better, thus making better decisions.” Helga shared.

Realising Her Potential

OASYS not only helped Shamira in steering away from substance 

use, she has now found a goal that she is working hard to strive 

for. 

Shamira is reaping the crops she has sown. Her academics took 

a turn for the better and in her recent WPLN score, her results 

improved tremendously, so much so that it shocked her! 

“I don’t want to disappoint my family and teacher.” Shamira said 

with much conviction. “I think about how my family and teacher 

will be disappointed if I start drinking again. I know if I do that 

again, I can’t enter ITE." Shamira shares, filled with zest and 

energy. 
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|  What does OASYS stand for?
OASYS stands for Overcoming Addictions Securing Youths’ 

Successes. A programme that seeks to provide intervention 

support for youth who are battling with substance-related 

issues. 

|  Misconceptions about youth with substance addiction
Misconception #1

Substance-using youth are bad individuals.

Substances do not give regard to class, race, personality, or 

character. Individuals from all walks of life can experience 

issues with substance use. Thus, substance use should not be 

a factor that reflect the moral integrity or define the character 

of the youth.  

Misconception #2

Youth can stop their substance use if they want to.

Substances have the power to alter our brain chemical and 

functions, affecting the way we think and behave. Therefore, 

youth with substance addiction usually have little control over 

their substance use behaviour despite the harm it causes, 

hence, needing the help from professionals and intervention 

treatments or programmes.

Misconception #3

Substance-using youth are stubborn and will not want to 

seek help.

There are youth who want to seek help, but are unaware 

of the resources and help available. Others might find it 

challenging to step into a clinic setting to get the support that 

they need because they are paralysed in fear thinking about 

the perceived stigmatisation they might get when they come 

out. Some might also hesitate to seek help knowing that it is 

mandatory for doctors in Singapore to report if they receive 

substance-using patients.

From The Heart of OASYS

Helga Foo
Social Worker, Rehabilitation and Reintegration Services

Like a sprouting seed in a desert, a little water may make a huge difference, it may mean a chance to bloom. 

Similarly, sometimes a little helping hand can make a difference in the life of the youth.

|  What happens if a youth does not seek help? 
The likely consequence of youth who do not receive help 

would be that they continue to go undetected and unaware of 

the available support until they are picked up by the judiciary 

system. Once they are noticed, depending on the severity of 

the substance use, some may be sentenced to a mandatory 

substance recovery programme, while others may be admitted 

to rehabilitation centers and institutions to receive care. 

Additionally, the youth's physical and psychological health will 

be compromised by the substance especially if they are heavy 

and active users.

|  How does OASYS help these youth overcome their
addictions?
To encourage more youth to seek help, OASYS breaks down 

the barriers of seeking help by meeting the youth at their 

organic setting. Some examples of such intentional efforts 

are meeting the youth at places where they go often. This 

makes the intervention accessible and as safe for the youth 

as possible. 

During the OASYS programme, the case worker will then 

work closely with the youth to enhance their awareness of 

some of their triggers. Subsequently, the programme equips 

them with relevant coping and relapse prevention skills. 

OASYS also adopts a collaborative approach in working with 

family, schools, employers and community partners to build 

a strong supportive network for the youth, enhancing the 

recovery process. 

|  How can the community support a youth facing substance
addiction to seek help?
Be open to hear them out and walk in their pace. Break down 

the wall between you and the youth by creating a safe space 

for the youth to open up and seek help. It encourages and 

comforts youth when we are genuine and are able to accept 

them.

OASYS OASYS Programme

Highlights of 2021

Learning Exchange with 
Community Agencies
In 2021, the OASYS team met with various community 

agencies like Children's Society, Salvation Army, ITE 

College West, SANA and Care Corner YouthGO to 

share about the OASYS programme. The aim in mind 

was to raise awareness of youth with substance abuse 

issues and the available resources to support them. 

Through the exchanges, it was heartening to know 

that the community also recognises the need for more 

support for youth struggling with substance abuses. 

Learning Journey with CNB
CNB has observed an increase in youth drug abusers 

arrested in the recent years. Most of them were new 

abusers. Trybe had the privilege to attend a learning 

journey led by the CNB team. During the session, we 

learnt more about Singapore's current drug situation, 

their stance and approach towards drug rehabilitation. 

Our Trybe team gained a deeper insight into the drug 

trend amongst youth in Singapore.

Using TikTok to Reach Out
TikTok has been a popular social media platform 

amongst youth. Hence, to reach out to youth who 

are seeking recovery, the OASYS team tapped on to 

TikTok as a platform to share about facts on substance 

use. The team was amazed to find out how much our 

TikTok videos were well received. We are confident that 

through our TikTok videos, we are able to raise more 

awareness on the impact of substance use and deter 

youth from them.

Support from Community

A Youth's Interest in Guitar
Volunteer Guitar Connection (VGC) ran their 

Guitar Buddy Programme for one of our OASYS 

clients who was interested in playing the guitar. In 

the course of three months, VGC patiently taught 

and equipped her with basic guitar skill. The 

volunteers brought joy, hope and encouragement 

to her throughout their time together. Not only 

does she know how to play her favourite song, 

she has also made new friends in a pro-social 

setting. We are thankful to work with like-minded 

partners who also believe in our youth!
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Trybe Stories

Olenka 
Intern Social Worker

I was fortunate to intern with Trybe. Through this internship, I 

was exposed to the OASYS programme and was involved in its 

framework formulation process. 

Before this internship, just like any other regular Singaporeans, 

I thought drug use was in its rarest form due to our strict 

regulations. However, my first exposure to this programme 

proved otherwise. Working with youth from the OASYS 

programme has taught me a lot about the social landscape in 

Singapore and the different systems influencing youth pushing 

them into drug use. Through the helping process, I recognised 

the impact of immediate systems in the youth’s decision-

making process. Some common cited reasons on why they 

engage in drug use are utilising it as a form of stress relief, as 

part of identity exploration, a tool to facilitate social activities, 

and even peer pressure. The OASYS programme allows 

practitioners to look at the wider system and investigate how 

these are perpetrating the youth’s drug use, eliminating the 

root cause. Henceforth, creating a longer-lasting impact.

Being a part of the OASYS team during the programme’s re-

development phase allowed me to witness how much thought 

was given in the process to ensure the long-lasting effectiveness 

of the programme. Ensuring that the programme fits the needs 

of the wide variety of youth we are working with. Trybe and 

OASYS’s approach in developing programmes from the youth's 

perspectives allowed the youth that we work with become more 

accepting of the different interventions planned. This is also 

keeping in mind that there are no one-size-fits-all solutions. 

Hence, one can witness the OASYS manual to have multiple 

intervention strategies targeting different identified needs and 

different phases of the helping process. This facilitated flexibility 

and allowed space for creativity for practitioners while working 

with the youth, aligning programme deliverables to their needs. 

And with increased motivation, the youth's journey towards 

change becomes easier too. After working with them, one will 

concur that there are so much more to them than just “addicted 

youth that need help”. They possess a lot of talents, interests, 

and aspirations in life. With some having great interest in art, 

and others showing great flair for music and sports. I believe 

that all they need is appropriate support and guidance to break 

free of the substance abuse cycle. And this is what OASYS is 

offering to these youth through the programme – a supportive 

friend, a guide, and a mentor.”

OASYS

Overcoming Restrictions of Covid-19
Combating the distractions 
online
To keep our young clients safe, most sessions went online. 

However, it is often difficult to keep youth engaged online and 

this could be due to many factors such as distractions online, 

screen-time fatigue and possibly unsuitable environment. 

Some youth might not have a convenient place at home to 

have the session online. To minimise screen fatigue, the OASYS 

team engaged their clients by working on activites together 

through different resources and functions online. Through 

these activities, the team was able to facilitate conversations 

and clients were able to stay focused on the discussions and 

important points. 

Keeping our clients in mind
In 2021, one of our clients and her family contracted Covid-19.

During that time, restrictions and regulations were very strict. 

Hence, they were not able to go out for their meals as they 

were waiting to be sent to the treatment facilities. They didn't 

have the resources to call for food delivery services either. To 

support the client and her family, our OASYS team tapped onto 

our clients' welfare fund to have food delivered to the client 

and her family. Her Social Worker also regularly checked in 

through calls and messages and provided emotional support 

while they were recovering. 

OASYS Programme
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Project ANCHOR

A community-
based 
counselling 
programme 
that supports 
young people 
with mental 
health issues
Mental health concerns among young people are on the rise in the recent years. 

These issues can cause a huge impact on a youth's development and quality of 

life. Advocating Every Youth a Success Story, Project ANCHOR is Trybe's counselling 

service for youth struggling with mental health issues. Project ANCHOR also 

extends to caregivers of youth facing mental health issues. 

Approach
Anchoring New Cognitions and Habits On Reality 
(ANCHOR)
A key aspect of this service is to strengthen the youth's connection with self and others, 

setting realistic goals in their lives. This support is also available to their parents or 

caregivers, who are important pillars of support in their journey. Project ANCHOR uses 

Choice Theory & Reality Therapy (CTRT) to anchor on what is realistic and workable. This 

potentially reduces the impact of mental health struggles and maximises the youth's level 

of satisfaction and happiness with their choice.

Success Story
A Greater Confidence
As the world unraveled in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic, Simon’s* life also took an unexpected turn for the worse. “It was one whole 

bad year for me”, he recalls. Simon had just commenced a 16-week internship when COVID-19 emergency measures unexpectedly kicked in 

and upended his plans. Only six days into his internship, the firm was forced to close down for the Circuit Breaker period. The disruptions 

severely impacted him. Simon related that he felt “hopeless” when chided by his Polytechnic tutor for not meeting his academic expectations 

in spite of the challenging circumstances. 

In the face of concurrent challenges in both his personal and academic life, Simon found himself wrecked with a myriad of negative emotions – 

“insecurity, paranoia, guilt, and anger” he recounts. He was unable to come up with solutions to tackle these issues on his own, as the feelings 

were “all bundled up together” and difficult to make sense of. When he tried speaking to friends about his problems, they were unable to help 

him and even suggested that he consider speaking to a professional instead. 

Fortunately, Simon was referred to Trybe’s Project ANCHOR. As the programme was free, he was able to access counselling without having to 

worry about finances. In his sessions with Amos, his counsellor, Simon was able to make sense of his circumstances and feelings. Since then, 

Simon’s impression of counselling has changed. He points out that counselling is not just for those who have severe challenges, but that it can 

be helpful for anyone who needs a “helping hand”. 

Besides helping him to face the immediate challenges in his life, Simon also gave Project ANCHOR credit for enabling his development and 

growth. He had once struggled with anxiety in the face of decisions, as he often worry about how others would perceive his choices. Amos 

encouraged Simon to look inwards, rather than outwards, for validation. 

Project ANCHOR 

Clients
Project ANCHOR serves youth between 12 to 21 years 

old, who are experiencing mental health symptoms 

and are keen to improve their mental and emotional 

well-being. This programme also offers support for the 

youth's parents/caregivers.

Goals of Service
Using Choice Theory & Reality Therapy as an approach, 

Project ANCHOR aims to help youth set realistic goals 

in their life and maximise the level of happiness with 

their choices. Through the service, we aim to improve 

the youth's quality of life and reduce the impact of their 

mental struggles.

Putting this into practice, Simon has since become more confident 

in his own decision-making abilities, and is able to steer from his own 

convictions and values rather than be overly-concerned about the 

opinions of others. 

Since joining Project ANCHOR, things have looked up for Simon. He has 

entered National Service (NS), where he has excelled in training and was 

even offered an attractive Officer Cadet School (OCS) opportunity that 

promised prestige and material benefits. 

However, while his life circumstances have improved, the lessons Simon 

learnt from Project ANCHOR have continued to serve him well. 

First, greater confidence in his own decision-making abilities has 

empowered him to make better choices. He eventually turned down the 

prestigious OCS offer, because he reflected that he was better suited to 

an alternative role in Specialist Cadet School (SCS) instead. While many 

of his friends and family did not understand his decision to turn down 

OCS, Simon did not waver in the face of their scepticism and stuck by the 

decision that he knew would serve him best. 

Now, whenever faced with difficulties, Simon remarks with delight that he 

has come a long way. He is now able to “take a step back” and not become 

overwhelmed, and can even view challenges as learning opportunities. 

Simon has even stepped up to ‘pass it forward’, and actively supports his 

friends and peers in NS who struggle with their mental health. 

Today, he encourages other youth who may be struggling with their 

mental health to seek the support that they require, noting that he did 

not face any discrimination or judgment from his friends for participating 

in Project ANCHOR. In fact, his friends supported and encouraged his 

decision. “(Counselling) helps a lot”, he remarks. “It really, really helps a 

lot.” 

*name has been changed to protect client's identity
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|  What does Project ANCHOR stand for and why was the 
programme launched? 
ANCHOR stands for Anchoring New Cognitions and Habits On Reality. 

In our course of working with youth, we observed a rising trend of 

mental health issues in young people. We also noticed that we have 

been receiving referrals on youth with mental health issues. Project 

ANCHOR was launched to have a more targeted approach in serving 

the youth population. 

|  How does mental health affect youth? 
Many youth struggle to cope with their emotions or deal with the 

symptoms and issues they are facing. This can escalate into relationship 

problems, disruptions to their routines like school and work and in dire 

cases, self-harm and even suicide ideation or attempts. 

|  Why should one seek help for their mental health?
For most cases, if no one guides the youth in adjusting their thoughts 

and behavior, the young person will continue to be unhappy. This, in 

turn, will affect the relationships the youth have, as well as, their ability 

in making wise decisions. Some may even resort to risky behaviours like 

self-harm or suicide to cope with their emotions/misery.

|  How does Project ANCHOR help youth with mental health issues?
Firstly, in Project ANCHOR, the youth is introduced to mindfulness 

to cope with stress and emotions. This is critical in regaining control 

of one’s emotional and mental health. Subsequently, the counselling 

addresses ineffective thinking, perceptions and behaviours which may 

have perpetuated the youth's unhappiness and conflictual relationships. 

If the youth is able to translate these new thinking and learning into 

actions, it is likely that the youth will have a positive change in coping, 

interacting and clarity of the issues.

|  How can I determine if a youth I know would need programmes like 
Project ANCHOR? 
It is important to first determine if the youth is willing to seek help. 

Many a times, they are able to express their struggles and if they require 

support. It can be challenging for the youth to seek help if they are 

unfamiliar with social services and mental health. However, you can 

encourage them to just have a conversation without needing to commit 

to any programme or service. The experience is usually more pleasant 

than what an individual will perceive in their state of struggle.

Mental health issues can have a range of severity. For a referral, first, 

identify if there are any safety or risk issues. Then, be the bridge for the 

youth by discussing with a professional on next steps. Reach out and 

support youth in their struggles so that they receive the right help they 

need. 

|  How can the community better support a youth who is facing mental 
health issues?
There are many ways the community can support a youth:

1.	 Provide a listening ear to understand what the youth is going 

through. Do not judge or jump to conclusion based on their 

behaviours.

2.	 Identify any risk or safety issues which may need attention.

3.	 Have a conversation with a helping professional when in doubt. 

The identity of the youth does not need to be disclosed when 

discussing how to help him or her.

4.	 Encourage the youth to seek professional help or support from the 

community instead of facing the issues alone.

From The Heart of Project ANCHOR

Amos Ng 
Senior Social Worker & Head, Outreach and Intervention Services

Amos advocates that every young person has the potential to succeed regardless of the circumstances they are in. He 

believes that every youth facing adversities can be supported to achieve their goals in life. 

Project ANCHOR

Do you know of any youth that might be struggling with their mental health? 

Know of any caregiver that might benefit from this programme too?

Refer them to Project ANCHOR
Log on to www.trybe.org/outreach-intervention/#projectanchor for more information

BES

BES
(Building Eco-Systems)

A programme that helps 
youth gain clarity for 
their career options
Working towards a meaningful career is not just about purposefully engaging them, and providing means to develop financial independence. 

Journeying with our youth is key in developing their positive identity as an individual. This is vital, given the life stage of the clients that we 

serve. Building Eco-Systems (BES) is Trybe’s effort in helping the youth understand their career choices — allowing them to prepare and qualify 

for sustainable jobs. 

Approach
To work with like-minded industry partners and agencies
BES provides youth with career support throughout the programme. Assessment tools and coaching sessions with our clients support the 

development of a career profile, guiding targeted job placements, for the development of individualised career readiness. We work hand-

in-hand with industry partners and agencies to help youth develop their personal career readiness, to navigate critical career decisions. Our 

diverse and strong network of support, avail our clients to wider development opportunities, and strengthen their social capital. Through this 

programme, we provide long-term guidance as our youth navigate through their future.
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We will journey with the 

youth to provide support 

and guidance

Our partner, NACE, provides 

support for companies that 

require a structured career 

pathway, through the creation of 

a career development blueprint

This project is for those 

who are looking at 

developing their career 

readiness, to navigate the 

various career decisions 

ahead of them

COMPANIES
Corporate partners will 

provide industry exposure and 

employment opportunities for 

the youth

For every young person to thrive, they need to be supported and equipped with the right tools, 

skills, and mindset. Across our work with at-risk youth in the community, and within institutions, we 

saw a pronounced need to journey with youth, as they navigate the start of, and transitions within, their 

career journey. 

Due to their young age and circumstances, these youth lack the positive personal and social capital. This 

has caused many of them to take on jobs that are easily accessible. Such jobs don’t require much or any 

qualifications, therefore, they’re common within their social networks. These jobs not only tend to have 

a freelance salary structure, but also limited career progression and opportunities to save financially.

Clients
BES serves youth between 16 to 25 years old, 

who are looking for guidance as they discover 

their career options.

Goals of Service
Through this programme, we aim for our clients to make 

informed decisions regarding their future vocation/

career. By getting industry partners on board, we hope 

to create more job opportunities for youth-at-risk.

The Journey To Success
Youth who face adversities deserve an equal chance
to succeed in life.

BES

Success Story
A Youth's Journey in Finding His Passion
Kelvin* first new about Trybe during his stay at a rehabilitation centre that Trybe used to manage back then. After leaving the centre, the 

COVID-19 pandemic caught up with Kelvin who faced difficulties finding a job even though he dabbled in many industries such as F&B and 

logistics. This was when he reached out to Trybe once more to be enrolled into their newest programme – Building Eco-systems.

Finding Greener Pastures

Kelvin encountered many obstacles during his search for a career. 

Similar to other youth, he was very lost and did not know what 

he wanted or what he was good at. However, with the help of 

BES, he was able to explore various stints in different industries. 

Eventually, he found a stable job at a chic bar that he enjoys 

working at. Even though it took him some time to find a company 

he was comfortable with, he positively remarks that “Even during 

the short stints, I am exposed to new jobs and I can apply what I 

have learnt from there. It was not for nothing”. He shared that the 

dynamic relationship he had with his superiors and colleagues who 

were good and fair to him played an integral part in his decision to 

continue his career there. 

Exposing youth to different industries not only allows them to 

relevant work experiences, it also helps most youth recognise 

their strengths and weaknesses. Many of them saw how it is like 

to be in the working field and realised that they have a lot to work 

on themselves in order to achieve their career goals. 

Focusing on the ‘Now’

Nathan, Kelvin's Case Worker, supported Kelvin throughout his journey with BES. Aside from introducing stints to Kelvin, Nathan also worked 

with Kelvin on his struggles to help him become a better version of himself and make the best out of his journey in finding a career. Kelvin 

learnt how to concentrate on the “now” and how his decisions in the present will lead to his future goals. “The things that I want are out of 

reach so I will just focus on the now” he remarks. Furthermore, Kelvin admits that when he first started searching for jobs, he used to aim for 

a supervisory role but soon realised that he was not ready for it. “I learnt that I have to progress slower in order to get fast eventually. Now, 

I am taking things one step at a time, slowly but surely”. Nathan often shares an analogy with the youth under his care – “You want to lift a 

100kg weight but you can’t even lift a 2kg weight so how can you expect yourself to lift the former? Start small, work your way up, until you 

can lift that 100kg weight.” 

It is clear that Kelvin has been diligently 

listening to and absorbing Nathan’s 

advice as he has been consistently 

employed for six months now. In the 

future, Kelvin hopes to venture into 

bartending. Getting a job might seem 

easy for many but for youth like Kelvin, 

they have to climb an uphill road in 

order to get one. With the support of 

BES and like-minded industry partners, 

Kelvin does not need to be alone in this 

journey.

*name has been changed to protect client's identity
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|  Why was BES launched? 
There are many youth in the community that struggle to navigate 

the transition into a career. They could be held back by either lack of 

personal resources like qualifications, skills, confidence in themselves, 

and/or social resources they can lean on for support. BES was founded 

to serve these youth. At Trybe, we believe that every youth’s career 

journey is unique and therefore, this programme is person-centered.

|  How does BES support youth in this area? 
BES provides job support and exposure to different industries that they 

are interested in. This helps the youth to get to know the industry better 

and gain knowledge that would help them make an informed decision on 

where they want to venture into in the future.

|  What does a BES staff do? 
A BES staff helps facilitate youth's self-awareness by processing 

with them their personality traits, skills, values, and strengths. They 

help prepare the youth for a new placement by providing training 

opportunities and skills assessment, guiding the youth in their resume 

and helping them prepare for interviews. The staff would also guide 

the youth in their decision making process by concretising the youth's 

experience(s) or profile to aid them to move into the next chapter of 

their career/engagement journey.

|  Misconceptions about youth in the BES programme
Misconception #1

Youth are not committed to long term employment

Many youth who left the school system are actually looking for long-

term employment. They desire a career where there is stability and also 

progression so that they can contribute to their families' finances. 

 

Misconception #2

Youth are not able to perform as adults would

Youth have the ability to perform at high level if given equal chance 

and development opportunity. Employers who invest in these youth find 

that they become an asset to the organisation, able to contribute well to 

meet organisational goals.

Misconception #3

Youth are not sure about their career options

There are youth who are very clear about their ambitions. This usually 

stems from personal interest in certain industry or through influence 

from significant others in their lives. Career guidance helps them to 

concretise their ambitions and give them clarity for the next few steps 

towards their interests.

Misconception #4 

Youth are unemployed or not in education because they are lazy

There could be many reasons that contribute to a youth being 

unengaged. Sometimes the lack of access to industry exposure makes 

a youth confused and overwhelmed, not knowing where to start. This 

is why, it is important to understand the youth's interests and expose 

them to different suitable roles or industries. This helps them chart a 

direction for their future.

Misconception #5

Youth these days are unable to take hardship and will quit easily

Youth may need more time and instructions as they are introduced 

to a new environment. When given the right support and guidance, 

these youth are able to show consistent development and resilience. 

Everyone, regardless of age, can thrive in a supportive environment.

From The Heart of BES

Nathan Parreno 
Counsellor & Special Projects Officer, Practice and Services Development

Nathan believes in helping youth develop a stable healthy environment, being self-aware, and developing their interests 

in life, so as to propel them for their brighter future and better version of themselves.

BES

If you would like to join us in this journey to empower more youth,

Email services@trybe.org to 
speak to our staff!

Highlights of 2021

NTUC U SME's Broadcast
At Trybe, we constantly find ways to provide more value to our youth 

work. To reach out to more like-minded employment partners, BES 

was mentioned in NTUC U SME's broadcast to share about what the 

programme does and the value-add that it provides to the employers 

in their industry.

BES Feature on TMT
Our Trybe colleagues were interviewed by The Majurity Trust (TMT) 

to feature their story in a project named "People Thriving". In the 

feature, our colleague shared about our heart for the youth that we 

serve and how BES can best support them. 
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BTE
(Bridge To Employment)

A three-year 
programme 
for youth who 
are interested 
in science and 
technology
Bridge to Employment Programme (BTE) is an initiative that encourages youth 

to pursure and develop their interest in science and technology. A quadrilateral 

partnership involving FHI360, Johnson & Johnson (J&J), Jurongville Secondary 

School (JVSS) and Trybe, the programme involves career mentorship, STEM2D 

career exploration activities, and community building and engagement. 

Approach
An experience-based strategy, encouraging 
reflection and self-discovery
We understand that youth learn through varying methods. We develop activities 

curated to elicit learning while conducting them in a fun and interactive way. BTE 

adopts an experience-based strategy, employing activities that impact the content 

clearly, while also encouraging reflection and self-discovery. This programme is co-

developed with teachers and J&J partners, executed by Trybe staff and experienced 

volunteers. BTE is designed to give the students a better picture of their plans for 

post-secondary school and to allow them to experience the STEM2D section in an 

open and fun manner. 

BTE

Highlights of 2021

BTE Launch
On 22 March, BTE was launched in JVSS with Mr Guillermo 

Frydman (Managing Director, J&J) sharing his hopes and belief in 

the students. Subsequently, Mr Chan (Principal of JVSS) shared 

his heartbeat of seeing the various stakeholders work together 

for the growth and development of the students. Despite it being 

the first time, the BTE community had gathered together. We saw 

students take up responsibilities when they played a role in the 

planning committee, as well as the roles of emcees and ushers. 

Engagement Session
During the first session, J&J mentors met with their assigned 

groups of students. They participated in an outdoor team-building 

session, led by a local adventure company focused on youth 

development. As they navigated various stations that required 

them to problem solve as a team, these activities provided a 

platform for both students and mentors to get acquainted with 

each other, and experience success for the first time as a group.

Clients
BTE serves the students of JVSS, following through with 

them from the age of 14 till 16. These students volunteered 

for the programme as they showed interest in STEM2D. 

Trybe also serves the volunteers from J&J, creating fun and 

meaningful activities for them to engage and mentor the 

students over the 3 years.

Goals of Service
This programme aims to increase the number of successful 

graduation from secondary school and acceptance into 

higher learning. It also aims to increase the number of 

students accepted into STEM2D subjects in higher learning.
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Highlights of 2021

BTE Students Went Hands-On
During the programme, the BTE team conducted workshops and 

experiential activities for the students. The students went hands-on 

and made their own non-alcoholic hand sanitisers, vanilla ice creams 

and even a homopolar motor. JVSS students enjoyed the experiential 

learning and their hearts were full of achievement when they held 

their own creations. 

Year-End Celebration
The team organised a day of activities for the students, as a way to 

celebrate their journey this year. The JVSS and Trybe team met the 

students in school, and engaged them in a day of games, a meal, 

reflection, and thanksgiving. Students expressed their gratitude 

to their mentors through various projects, and also participated in 

focus group discussions with the BTE evaluator.

BTE Collaboration with J&J Design 
Team
The BTE team collaborated with the Design Team from J&J, led 

by Ms Lilian Shieh (Senior Director, Head of Design Asia Pacific) 

to conceptualise and conduct a Design Thinking workshop for the 

students. Students were tasked to design an ideal pet for their 

mentors, which called on the mentors to join in the video call, and 

share their needs and feedback.

48
Students

30
Volunteers

Number of beneficiaries:
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Singapore Boys' Hostel

Trybe provides 
rehabilitation 
services to 
support and 
guide SBHL 
residents 
towards 
success
SBHL is a gazetted institution under the Probation of Offenders Act and exists to 

house youth who are on probation. Trybe has been appointed by the Ministry of Social 

and Family Development (MSF) to manage and run the Hostel since 2011. We work 

closely with the residents towards the long-term outcome of wanting to lead a crime-

free life and contribute positively to the society after their discharge. 

Approach
Engaging Residents
We aim to increase the level of familial support our youth receive and cultivate positive 

relationships with pro-social adult figures. Our rehabilitation and reintegration 

activities aim to broaden their horizons and experiences, teaching them positive 

coping strategies and providing them a positive community. These programmes are 

outlined in hopes that they will be led to a pro-social group that will steer them away 

from a life of crime and contribute positively to the society.

SBHL
(Singapore Boys' Hostel)

Clients
SBHL serves male youth between 12 and 21 years 

old who have been placed on probation by the 

courts with mandated Hostel residency as part of 

their Probation Order. Our residents are placed in 

our care for up to 12 months.

Goals of SBHL
Through SBHL, we aim to build their desire and ability 

to lead crime-free lives. We also aim to help build in 

them a renewed sense of identity by increasing their 

level of pro-social support. 

Success Story
Paying It Forward: Youth Hopes to Help Youth Like Himself
Upon starting track & field at the age of nine, Darren* showed sporting talents that earned him his first silver from a P4 competition. After clinching 

his first gold in P5, this placed him in good stead for a Direct School Admission (DSA) to secondary school. Though track & field was something he was 

very passionate about, Darren soon started racking up losses, and often struggled with poor academic performances. Waist-deep in these perceived 

failures, he became depressed and unmotivated about life. In an attempt to gain solace, Darren turned to intoxicating himself with alcohol and pills. 

This stopped when he eventually overdosed. Following that incident, Darren was admitted to Singapore Boys’ Hostel (SBHL) as part of his 6-month 

rehabilitative probation programme. 

Restarting the Lap

During the whole year of 2020, Darren was awaiting trial. With the time he was given to engage in religious practice and self-reflection, Darren came 

to a consensus that he wanted to help others who are or were struggling like him. Indeed, having gone through remand at Changi Prison and exhausting 

legal processes, Darren empathises with the struggles of youth who may have to go through this harrowing experience alone. Having experienced 

someone walking through this arduous journey with him, he hopes to provide that helping hand for future youth.

“The consensus that I came to was that I wanted to do something that helps others. At that time, it was more on wanting to pay my debt to society. Then it 

slowly evolved into ‘I want to help others who struggled or are struggling like me.’”

How Hostel Living Helped

Other incidents served to strengthen this conviction. Darren shared that coming to the hostel helped him to meet many different people and gain a 

broader perspective on youth. Darren was also regarded by his friends as a good listener, they often confided problems in him. Upon hearing that his 

friends made the wrong decisions—despite being good people— helped to reaffirm his goal in helping youth like himself before they fell off the deep 

end.

In time, Darren shared his ambitions with his Social Worker, where he wanted to do something that gives him a sense of purpose. His Social Worker 

was heartened by this and fully supported him in this journey. He shares with Darren about the responsibilities of his role to give Darren a better 

understanding of what he wants to become. In view of Darren’s lived experiences, his Social Worker is also imbued with confidence that these can 

work to deepen his empathy in his future work with youth. He also wishes for Darren to continue harnessing his strengths as an active listener in 

Social Work. Though Darren has a long way to go before becoming a full-fledged Social Worker, he maintains his interest by volunteering with some 

organisations and worked hard in his studies. These determined efforts were geared towards doing well for ‘O’ Levels, so that he could enter a Diploma 

in Social Work course.

He Will Go the Distance!

To deepen his foray into volunteering, Darren continues to seek out volunteering opportunities relevant to his future work; and currently with MSF.

Darren also shared that he wants to go back to the hostel to do Social Work. In response to this, Trybe will happily welcome him back with open arms! 

*name has been changed to protect client's identity

| John Morton, Youth Worker
"I think the youth we serve are not only gifted 

in their own ways, but are also brimming with 

potential, which is all the more miraculous

| Marcus Lai, Social Worker
"As cliché as it sounds, the work that we do 

has intrinsically more value than any amount 

or compensation. It only takes a moment of 
considering some of the considerable challenges they have 

faced and are trying to overcome. I am so glad to be part of a 

theoretically-based and practically-applied catalyst that seeks 

to help them overcome some of these challenges and equip 

them with better tools to guide them as they navigate some of 

life's challenges not just now, but in the future as well, so that 

they are better able to achieve whatever they wish to set their 

minds to as they go through their life's journey."

progress or breakthrough with a youth to strengthen one's 

motivation in this line of work."

"Doing a simple gesture like offering a listening 

ear to our residents can make a huge difference. 

And to see our residents feel better is fulfilling."

| Dominick Chan, Residential Care Worker

From the Heart of SBHL
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Highlights of 2021

Implementation of Trauma-Informed 
Care (TIC)
Over the years of working with young offenders, our team observed 

residents reporting difficulties that can trigger a string of events and 

decision-making that jeopardises their ability to continue probation 

successfully. Hence, the SBHL team explored the implementation of 

TIC. TIC is a guiding principle that recognises the presence of trauma 

symptoms and acknowledges the role and impact trauma may play in 

an individual's life. It provides support in a way that is accessible and 

appropriate to those who may have experienced trauma. By carrying 

out TIC, we hope to reduce the possibility for re-traumatising 

residents and staff, as well as reducing triggers or exacerbating 

trauma symptoms.

Small Group Management
In 2020, we piloted Small Group Management to a few dorms to 

create a safe space for staff and residents and encourage better 

communication. Fixed groups of staff were attached to a fixed group 

of residents who participated in the hostel routines within their 

designated dorms. Overtime, residents were reacting lesser and 

infringement rates also began to decrease. 

Sengkang Youth Network
Sengkang Youth Network believes in engaging and inspiring youth to 

come together for the goodness of the society. Hence, during National 

Day, they extended their national celebrations to our residents. They 

were treated to a National Day celebration involving music, songs, 

dance and games. They also gave every resident a goodie bag to take 

home. 

Cybersecurity Programme
Aaron, a volunteer with teaching and cybersecurity programme 

training experience, did a workshop on cybersecurity with some of 

our residents. The residents learnt a lot about cyberbullying, hacking 

and how to stay safe online. 

WeCare Arts Fund, Artysticks
This year, with the support of the NAC WeCare Arts Fund, SBHL was 

able to partner with Artysticks’ Jeremy Yeo to roll out a short-term 

drumming programme for two dormitory groups. The residents were 

introduced to basics of group drumming and got to put their new 

skills to use in their in-house performance. The residents enjoyed 

themselves learning a new skill together as a dorm. 

Project Sparkle XI SMU Students
During the June holidays, the Project Sparkle XI SMU students brought 

shine and sparkle to the residents as they conducted a series of hybrid 

activities, bringing the digital world into reality. The residents learnt 

about life skills through financial planning programmes, personal 

grooming, resume writing, presentation skills and more. 

Support from Community

Singapore Boys' Hostel

These skills were chosen to help the residents as they further their 

careers in the future, as well as, to enable them to be independent.

Balloon Sculpting Workshop
Group Aid is a social enterprise that supports charities with workshops 

making terrariums and balloon sculpting. They went through the steps 

patiently with our residents from making simple heart shapes, to flowers 

and then to dogs. The residents were so excited that they requested 

other creative ideas to make! The balloon sculptor expert, Bryan, was 

pleasantly surprised that the residents showed enthusiasm and thought 

out of the box.

With each result, we implemented Small Group Management across 

all dorms in 2021. To improve results, staff were provided training 

to equip them to understand trauma and how it affects an individual 

so that they can manage and facilitate conversations with residents 

better. By providing this safe environment for residents and staff, it 

allows defences to be brought down, making way for relationships to 

forge and conversations to go deeper. At the end of 2021, surveys 

completed by residents showed that they felt safe to share their 

difficulties with the staff and infringement rates also continue to be 

lesser than previous years.

New Jamming Room for the Residents
The pandemic has caused an array of negativity all around the world. 

Our staff decided to set up a music jamming room for the residents 

to rest and destress with the company of big pillows, games, karaoke 

and more. When some donors heard about this proposal, we received 

thoughtful sponsorships to contribute to this initiative. Our residents 

enjoy the opportunity and space to spend time with their peers and 

staff. Thank you to all the kind donors and volunteers who made this 

happen!
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GRYT
(Growing Resilient Youth In Transition)

A reintegration 
programme that 
supports youth in 
their transition from a 
residential institution 
to the community
The transition from a residential institution back to the community can be complex and challenging for a youth. Very often, 

due to the difficulties in readjusting and adapting back to the community, the youth might find themselves returning to their 

negative coping methods, putting themselves at risk of adverse outcomes. Therefore, with this aftercare service, the youth will 

be able to continue receiving guidance and support during their transition – learning effective ways to readapt and manage 

stressors. This will in turn cultivate pro-social behaviours and reduce risks of recidivism.

Approach
Celebrating milestones
Celebrating milestones with our youth and their families is a significant aspect for us as we journey with our clients. We value 

our relationships with our youth clients and their families. As such, our caseworkers would plan birthday celebrations, attend 

significant events with the youth, and at times organise activities to just have fun and bond. Some of these activities would 

include baking, having meals together, sports, and even playing video games.

GRYT Programme

Success Story
Forging a New Path: Teenage Boy Overcomes His Inner Battles
Before Paul* was sentenced to the hostel, he was living in anxiety, moving from house to house often. He was distressed with the lack of 

stability in his life, and there wasn’t a place he could call home. His divorced mother was working hard, and thus was rarely around. At 14, he 

started feeding his curiosity about drugs, and to earn quick cash; he sold the same substances he was abusing. This resulted in Paul having 

multiple run-ins with the law and his offences ranged from underage smoking and shoplifting to assisted robbery and substance abuse. 

Eventually, the law caught up with Paul.

“I remember seeing two guys walk towards me and my worst fears played out,” Paul shares about the day he was arrested. “I knew it was the 

end of me, even before they got to me. When they arrested me, I was just in shock.”

Paul was then sentenced to probation at the Singapore Boys’ Hostel, a rehabilitation institution managed by Trybe. Stepping into the hostel 

marked his first change. He knew he could have gone to prison for his offence, but was fortunate to end up in the hostel. While he knew there 

would always be external influences that could weigh him down. Paul had to fight them all to save himself. 

“Somehow, I felt lucky. Not everyone had a second chance as I did,” Paul says. “I knew if I did everything right this time, I’d be able to have a 

better life.”

It was evident that, with his newfound disposition in life, Paul was bound for greater things. He was granted early weekend leaves and earned 

himself an early discharge from the hostel. Upon discharge, Paul immediately signed up for Growing Resilient Youth in Transition (GRYT)—

Trybe’s aftercare programme that supports youth in their transition from a residential institution to the community. He completed his design 

portfolio and was able to get into an art school with the help of the Trybe Staff.

“Not only has Trybe helped me with my personal growth, but with my career as well,” Paul recalls. “The staff connected me with people and 

services that could help me prepare for school and other things such as emergency funds. For that, I am truly grateful.”

His GRYT Case Worker has nothing but good words for Paul. “It wasn’t difficult to work with Paul as he knew what he wanted. I was just there 

to journey with him,” he shares. “He was very open and could articulate his plans.”

When asked about his plans after art school, Paul shared that he wants to leave a mark in the design industry. “One day, I hope to provide 

creative solutions to many brands that companies will be proud of,” he says. 

While Paul may have offended in the past, he strives to forge a new path. An insightful young man, he believes that change must come from 

within. “You are your enemy. The only person who can convince you to turn over a new leaf and do something about your circumstance is 

yourself.”

*name has been changed to protect client’s identity

Clients
GRYT serves youth between the ages of 13 and 21 who 

have completed a period of residence in an institution.

Goals of Service
GRYT aims to create better reintegration outcomes as 

the youth adjusts to living in the community. Remaining 

constructively engaged through schooling, employment, 

and pro-social activities, and addressing risk issues 

are some of the factors that contribute to better 

reintegration outcomes.
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|  What are some struggles that youth might face when they leave 
the institution? 
Youth who leave institutions experience unique challenges that 

may differ to each individual. In the institution, youth often receive 

significant support from the staff. Additionally, routine and structure in 

the institution helps the youth feel anchored and secured, allowing them 

to manage well. 

Upon leaving the institution, youth usually go through a significant 

transition in their lifestyle as there is a sudden reduction of support and 

structure. Sometimes, they may feel overwhelmed by the challenges that 

they face after leaving the institutions, or experience a dip in motivation 

because of the loss of support and structure in their lives. 

Parents of these youth may also experience difficulties in this area as 

they find themselves receiving their child back in their care, and needing 

to divert more attention and effort to manage their child’s behaviour. 

|  How does GRYT come in to fill this gap? 
GRYT provides sustainable support for youth who are leaving the 

institutions and their families. This is done through casework and 

counselling, where the needs of the youth and their family members are 

being identified. Case workers will then find resources in the community 

to meet these needs. We also work with other community partners to 

ensure that the youth will have a holistic and comprehensive support to 

sustain their progress after they have left the institution. 

Individual sessions with youth helps us to work with them on issues 

and challenges that they may face. Through these sessions, we also 

address any risky or unhelpful behaviours that the youth might have got 

themselves involved in after their discharge. 

|  Why is it important for youth discharging from institutions to have 
a pro-social community? 
Youth and adolescents go through an important stage in their 

development where they are forming their own identity. The interactions 

they have with the people around them can heavily influence their sense 

of identity. Therefore, it is crucial that in this stage, for them to be 

surrounded by a pro-social community so that they will develop a strong 

and healthy sense of self. A pro-social community can also enable youth 

to discover their strengths and interests as they participate in activities 

and go through life together. 

|  How can the community support them?
Youth may feel a sense of stigma for having to reside in an institution. 

Thus, they can easily perceive a sense of rejection or biasness from the 

community. It is important that the community accepts and recognises 

the youth as an individual with needs or challenges in their lives. We 

should also be willing to understand them as any other persons. When 

the youth feels the support and care from the community, it will motivate 

and encourage them in their journey to writing their own success stories. 

From The Heart of GRYT

Andre Chong 
Social Worker & Head, Rehabilitation & Reintegration Services

Andre believes that there is a story behind each youth facing adversity. Finding out and connecting to these stories of 

the youth enables us to take a more compassionate approach with them which is essential in every human relationship.

GRYT

Highlights of 2021

Learning Exchange with Salvation 
Army
In September 2021, the GRYT team met with The Salvation Army 

to exchange insights and knowledge in the area of aftercare 

work for residents discharging from institutions. During the 

learning exchange, we shared about the work that we do in 

GRYT and some of the best practices we have had. We received 

positive feedback on our programme and are encouraged by the 

work that The Salvation Army has done for the community too. 

Implementation of FIT
We piloted the implementation of Feedback Informed Treatment 

(FIT) in our GRYT programmes. This implementation aims to 

strengthen the therapeutic relationship and outcomes when we 

work with our youth clients. FIT empowers clients to share their 

feedback on the therapeutic relationship and progress of the 

treatment, and by doing so, we are enabling our clients to take 

more ownership over their treatment and outcome. We listen 

attentively to our clients so that we can support them more 

holistically. Since the implementation of FIT, we have received 

many positive feedback and learnt more about our clients on a 

deeper level. 

Support from Community

A Youth's Interest in Muay Thai
We are thankful for community partners like Refuel Gym Academy 

and City Harvest Church (CHC) for showing their support for 

the work that we do. CHC sponsored one of our GRYT youth, 

his Muay Thai training with Refuel Gym, who gave a special rate 

for him. The Muay Thai trainings not only enabled him to pursue 

his interest, he was also able to meaningfully engage himself and 

make new friends in a pro-social environment. Now, his interest 

for the sport grew and he now hopes to become a trainer one day. 

We are proud of our GRYT youth for committing himself to the 

training faithfully. His coaches sung praises of his hardwork and 

determination. Way to go!

Journeying with Youth through 
Education
I'mpart Education provides educational resources paired with the 

right relationships to create an educational experience where 

youth facing adversities can thrive. In 2021, I'mpart Education 

youth advocates volunteered and tutored some of our youth 

clients to help them do better in school. The youth shared that it 

is through these support that encouraged and motivated them to 

reach their goals and do better in school. 
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Company 
Highlights

Staff Welfare
At Trybe, we value our staff and the bond we have within the team. We see the importance of connectedness even more through this pandemic. 

Even though we could not gather physically in a large cohort, we organised both virtual and physical staff bonding sessions, while adhering to 

safety measures, to encourage connectedness and build team spirit. Besides bonding sessions, we also launched two new initiatives, namely 

Lunchtime Mondays and #TrybeLearns. These two initiatives aimed to not only bring staff together on an informal note but to also encourage 

mental wellness amongst our staff through educating and equipping them with skills and resources.

Trybe's 26th Anniversary
Anniversaries are meant to commemorate the reason why we exist. This anniversary, we commemorated the special occasion by raising 

awareness of the work that we do. We ran an anniversary run, staff canvassing event and a donation campaign to achieve this. Our team was 

so encouraged seeing so many members of the public running and sharing about our anniversary run on their social media. On top of these 

three activities, we celebrated our anniversary by sending desserts to our staff. Our staff enjoyed the sweet treats together with one another 

and their family members. 

Trybe's 1st Youth Rising Month
Youth Rising is a dedicated month to the youth population we 

serve. This campaign was launched with an aim to raise awareness 

on the topics surrounding youth that present behavioural risks and 

showcase their ability to rise above adversities. Through the Youth 

Rising Month celebration, we hope to encourage our youth as they 

journey towards their own success stories.

Trybe Resilience Masks
For most of us, a mask is a piece of protection from the virus but 

Trybe's Resilience Mask is more than that. Trybe's Resilience Mask 

was designed to encourage our youth and celebrate their success 

journey. As part of our Youth Rising Month, every donor who 

donated during this month, adopts a Trybe's Resilience Mask which 

was distributed to our youth and their families. We are grateful for 

all the support we have received from the public and are pleased 

to share that we were able to distribute the masks to more than 30 

Trybe youth and their families.
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Partnerships &
Collaborations
Trybe strives to work with different partners to provide opportunities 

for youth to grow and reintegrate into society. Such opportunities 

could be apprenticeship, or retail, logistics and hospitality-related 

placements. Our hope is that through these opportunities, our 

youth will be able to maintain a stable income and get involved in a 

pro-social community. 

On top of collaborations that give clients opportunities, we also 

work with other organisations and institutions to raise awareness 

of our work. We aim to reach out to more youth that need us and 

gather as much support as we can, in order to bring the best value 

to our youth clients. We are thankful for all the partnerships and 

collaborations Trybe has thus far, working hand-in-hand with us to  

bring the support we can to the youth that we serve. 

Vivopress Corporation
We are honoured to be celebrating our first Youth Rising Month 

with the support of Vivopress Corporation. Vivopress is an 

established wholesaler supplier specialised in producing one-of-a-

kind customised gift products at affordable prices. They contributed 

their signature reusable masks and printed on our design for our 

very first Youth Rising Month. Every donor that donated during this 

campaign, adopted an exclusively designed Resilience Mask which 

was distributed to our youth and their families. 

NUS Rag & Flag Day
NUS Rag & Flag Day (also known as Receive and Give) is an annual 

event where NUS students come together to contribute to improve 

the welfare of the less privileged. Believing and supporting in 

our cause, they created a video and interviewed our volunteers, 

reaching out to students to forge new bonds and donate to a 

worthy cause. We are heartened to see that many youth related to 

our cause. They saw that more and more youth do need help and 

it is with such partnership that we are able to raise awareness and 

reach out to more youth that needs us. 

NUS Tembusu
Tembusu Gives Back aims to foster a culture of service, with a 

passion to give back to the society. This year, Tembusu planned a 

virtual online concert to raise funds for Trybe. The students spent 

some weekends recruiting performers, planning and rehearsing the 

entire concert and publicising the event, while ensuring that all 

safety measures were taken care of. That evening, the residents 

from Singapore Boys' Hostel were invited to watch the concert 

online. They had so much fun that some of them sang and danced 

along!

ImPAct Hong Lim Green
Trybe is honoured to be invited to speak at an online webinar by 

ImPAct Hong Lim Green. The speakers talked about today's social 

impact and shared about the works that have been done and how 

they have become more intentional and deliberate as more youth 

face extremely vulnerable and helpless situations in this global 

pandemic. 

Safe Place Sharing
In January, we had the privilege of collaborating with Safe Place, an 

initiative of Lakeside Family Services (LFS), to hold a closed-door 

sharing session for Trybe's Practitioner's Network Group (PNG) 

and invited agencies. During the session, Safe Place Director, 

Jennifer Heng, spoke alongside her co-workers about teenage 

pregnancy, responding appropriately and the community resources 

available. It was an enriching time for the 54 participants from 

Trybe and other agency partners such as MSF, The Salvation Army 

and SHINE. Attendees gleaned insights such as gaining a deeper 

understanding of the impact of unplanned pregnancies on clients 

and their families, and how as practitioners we can provide safe 

spaces mentally, emotionally and physically for all involved in the 

journey. 
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Donation-In-Kind
We want to thank our donors for their continuous support 
and partnership in helping us bring more value to our youth 
work. Their donations help keep our mission alive — to 
journey with youth facing adversities to lead purposeful lives.

If you would like to support our youth and the work that we do, 

visit www.trybe.org/donate/ to 
find how you can donate!

Our Volunteers
Tuition
Tony, Salihin, Zane, Vimuth, Kai 

Wen, Lawrence, Nicole, Jia Hau, 

Francis, Cassandra, Rui Zhe, Min 

Jing, Luke

Sports and Fitness
Gym Instructor: Keith, 

Shanmugaratnam

Takwra: Nazri

Yoga: Urvi

Basketball: Paul, Wan Qing

Life Skill Programmes
Cybersecurity: Aaron

Foreign Language Programmes
Spanish: Salihin

Music
Guitar: Amanda, Amy, Jude

Befriending
Jim Leong, Jeremy, Johnny, Derrick, 

Don, Yong Liang

Corporate Communications
Copywriting: Clarice, Wahida

Translator: Masyitah, Tony, Francis, 

Salihin, Musaib

Fundraising: Tiffany, Sharveen, 

Rebecca

Design: Xavier

Financial Planning
Jian Hong

Legal Advisory
Murali

Have a heart for youth? Join our volunteer family and be a part of our 

youth's journey towards success!

Visit www.trybe.org/volunteers/ 
for more information

Volunteers
Building a strong relationship with the community is important in 

complementing our youth work. We believe that our volunteers 

are our essential partners in helping our youth craft their success 

stories. 

Coming from all walks of life, our volunteers bring in different 

expertise, experience and stories. Many of our volunteers join us 

and offer different support to our youth. These support ranges in 

a wide variety such as tuition, sports, topic of interests, art, music 

and more. 

Although COVID-19 has shaken the world, it did not stop our 

volunteers from serving our clients. While they themselves are 

facing the pandemic, our volunteers have stepped up and shown 

their support for our youth even through virtual platforms. With 

their continuous efforts, many young people feel more connected 

to the community and are meaningfully engaged. For this, we are 

truly grateful.
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Campaigns & 
Fundraising
In 2021, we have launched content campaigns with topics 

that range from rebuilding family relationships, personal 

development to mental wellness among youth and their 

caregivers. By launching these content campaigns for our 

internal and external stakeholders, we encourage and 

welcome more support for the youth population that we 

serve. Our goal is for our youth to be part of a more accepting 

community both online and in the real world.

Advocating for young people’s overall well-being, Trybe 

raises awareness on different issues surrounding youth 

facing adversities. It is key to let more people understand 

that at-risk behaviour stem from unmet needs and other 

deep-rooted issues. In addition, we share about Trybe’s 

services and programmes that tackle these problems and 

help the youth work towards a more positive lifestyle. We 

believe that by doing so, we are able to reach out to more 

youth who can benefit from our services.

Total Amount Raised in 2021: $176,613.05

Gift to Reunite this Lunar New 
Year
10 Feburary - 10 March

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg, Social Media, Email Blasts, 

Trybe's Website

Launched during the Chinese New Year festivities, Gift 

to Reunite, this Lunar New Year highlights the importance 

of rebuilding relationships between the youth and their 

families. Having a strong family bond motivates young 

people to make better choices and work harder for a 

better life.

Trybe published contents on social media, EDM, and 

website. We also encouraged the public to contribute 

by sharing their resources on Giving.sg. All proceeds will 

go to Trybe’s programmes and services that encourage 

and carve out quality time and intentional activities for 

the youth and their loved ones.

World Social Work Day 
March

Platform(s) used: Social Media

In celebration of World Social Work Day, Trybe launched 

a content campaign to appreciate all Social Work 

practitioners in our midst. We interviewed one of our 

colleagues to know what motivates and heartens him as 

a youth work practitioner at the Singapore Boys’ Hostel.

In our own little way, we honoured them for journeying 

with youth facing adversities.

Mental Health Month | Project 
ANCHOR
May

Platform(s) used: Social Media, Trybe's YouTube Channel

Trybe continuously seeks for opportunities to fill the 

gaps in youth work. To fulfil our vision, Every Youth A 

Success Story, we develop programmes that will benefit 

more underserved youth.

In 2021, Trybe launched Project ANCHOR. We created 

publicity materials such as article, video, graphics, and 

posters, which were posted on our own social media 

accounts and website. To reach out to more youth 

who could benefit from the programme, we have also 

published our posters to some Facebook community 

pages managed by People’s Association.

Support Our Young Amidst the Rising 
Community Cases
25 May - 25 July

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg

Our youth and their families have been facing difficulties that are 

worsened by the effects and uncertainties of the pandemic. From 

financial instability to trauma, academic pressure, and personal issues, 

many develop behaviours that put themselves and others at risk.

To show support in these trying times, we have launched a fundraising 

initiative that can assist us in our work. Every dollar donated to this 

campaign will support Trybe’s services that continue to journey with 

the youth amidst the rising community cases in Singapore.

Youth Rising Month
7 July - 8 August

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg, Social Media, Email Blasts, Trybe's Website

In July, Trybe launched its very first Youth Rising Month. Our goal is to 

establish a specific month to create awareness of topics surrounding 

the youth that we serve. In addition, we want more people to know 

about our work that helps our youth rise above their adversities. 

The year’s theme is resilience, thus we created contents to celebrate 

our youth’s ability to weather the storm and emerge stronger. To 

represent the youth’s resilience, we produced our very own Resilience 

Masks, in partnership with VivoPress.

We created opportunities to extend more support by inviting the 

public to adapt a Resilience Mask for $10 or more. These masks 

were then distributed to the youth and their families as a symbol of 

encouragement and a reminder that they are part of a compassionate 

community.

Keep the Singapore Spirit Alive | National 
Day
9 August - 12 September

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg, Social Media

While Singapore has a long combat against pandemic, it has not 

dampened our mood in celebrating the Singapore spirit. Our 

National Day campaign reminded us of our duty to Singapore and 

to one another. This campaign aimed to highlight that a caring and 

compassionate community shines through in times of need.

All proceeds will go to Trybe’s services that provide care and support 

for our youth. 

Trybe's 26th Anniversary
2 November - 12 December

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg, Social Media, Email Blasts, Trybe's Website

In celebration of Trybe's 26th Anniversary, we thank everyone who 

has been a part of our journey with the youth. Many of our youth 

come from complex family backgrounds with little or no support. 

Every day is a struggle, yet many work hard, showing resilience above 

their adversities in life.

To commemorate this milestone, we have launched a campaign that 

consists of three components—fundraising, anniversary run, and staff 

canvassing. We invited the public to show their support for us and our 

cause by donating or running 2.6km to raise awareness.

Donations made through this campaign will contribute to Trybe’s 

services that support more youth facing adversities.

Supporting Youth with Mental Symptoms
13 September - 10 October

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg, Social Media, Email Blasts

With World Mental Health Day, celebrated on the 10th of October 

globally, Trybe launched a campaign dedicated to our youth’s mental 

well-being.

Navigating one's mental health struggle alone is never easy. The 

emotional strain is real and our youth need all the help they can get.

Funds raised from this campaign will support Trybe’s services that 

provide a safe environment for our youth to deal with their emotional 

and mental struggles.

Gift of Hope for our Youth
30 November - 31 December

Platform(s) used: Giving.sg, Social Media

Trybe joined Giving Week, our national SG Cares movement. Giving 

Week celebrates the spirit of giving and seeks all to make giving part 

of our way of life.

We believe that by showing them support, our youth are given hope 

and encouragement to change their lives for the better.

Funds raised through this campaign will help us continue our services 

that give hope. We will be able to continue to guide our youth to 

make better decisions and create a positive impact on our community.
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58 Company Policies
In Trybe, policies are set and authorised by the Board. They are 

directional in nature and provides the Company with a framework 

within which decisions can be made at different levels. They are 

clear on what is permissive, what is restricted and what authorities 

are delegated.  The Company must abide by the policies in place and 

any exceptions are supported with clear and sound rationale and 

submitted for explicit approval.  

Each policy endeavors to comply with all statutes and where the 

Company does not, its primary objective is to ensure compliance as 

soon as practicable.  Policies are to be read in conjunction with other 

Company policy documents and Standard Operating Procedures 

(SOPs) where appropriate/applicable and to be reviewed regularly 

and/or updated as necessary to maintain compliance with applicable 

laws and regulations or accommodate organisational changes for its 

continued effectiveness.

The Company makes every effort to notify staff when an official 

change in policy has been made, however, staff are responsible for 

their up-to-date knowledge about Company policies.

Governance Policy
The Governance Policy has been commissioned for the following 

purposes:

i.	 Laying down the framework of values and beliefs at Trybe 

ii.	 Providing perspectives of the leadership and overall strategies 

of Trybe 

iii.	 Specifying the work ethics and work practices at Trybe 

iv.	 Affording guidance and protection to the Board and the  staff 

in the course of their directorship and/or work and 

v.	 Articulating the working relationships between the Board, the 

Executive Management, the staff, the volunteers, and other 

stakeholders.

Human Resources Policy
The Human Resources Policy outlines the governing human 

resources approaches within the Company, including but not limited 

to compensation and remuneration, recruitment, organisation 

structure, and talent development. It is to be read in conjunction 

with other Company policy documents and handbooks where 

appropriate.

Reserves and Investments Policy
Reserves & Investments Policy serves to outline Trybe’s 

establishment, generation, safeguarding, treatment of financial 

reserves and the broad objectives and strategies for the 

management and/or investment of such reserves and/or assets of 

the Company, which are available for investment. The Charity’s 

Reserves can be used for (i) new projects / capital injection (ii) 

savings (iii) investments.

Risk Management Policy
The Risk Management Policy seeks to provide guidelines for the 

management of risk in Trybe. As risk management is an ongoing 

concern and activity, the policy will not seek to identify nor deal 

with all the risks present in the Company, but it shall serve as an 

overview of how risks can be identified and how they should be 

treated and/or managed. The Charity shall continue to identify, 

manage and review risks on an active basis.

Technology & Infrastructure Policy
The Technology & Infrastructure Policy describes the authorised 

use of the Company’s technology and infrastructure resources and 

serves to protect the Company and its authorised users. The policy 

applies to all technology and infrastructure resources managed by 

the Company that store, process or transmit information, including 

but not limited to network and computer hardware, software and 

applications, mobile devices and telecommunication systems.  

Communications Policy
Communications Policy seeks to provide specific guidelines for 

corporate communications in Trybe, including the release of 

information about the Company to the general public, media 

and other relevant stakeholders. For more details on the 

operationalisation of this Policy, reference is made to the Corporate 

Communications Standards, of which, the Chief Executive Officer 

and the Head, Communications & Partnership Department are the 

delegated authority for approval. 
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Volunteer Management Policy
The Volunteer Management Policy seeks to provide guidelines for 

the management of volunteers in Trybe. For more details on the 

operationalisation of the Volunteer Management Policy, reference is 

made to the Volunteer Management SOP and Volunteer Handbook, 

of which, the Chief Executive Officer and Partnership Manager are 

the delegated authority for approval. 

Whistleblowing Policy
The Whistleblowing Policy ensures that the Company complies to 

a high standard of compliance with accounting, financial reporting, 

internal controls and auditing requirements and any legislation 

relating thereto. In line with this commitment, this policy aims to 

provide an avenue for staff and external parties to raise concerns 

and offer them reassurance that they will be protected from reprisals 

or victimisation for whistleblowing in good faith.

Personal Data Protection Policy
Personal Data Protection Policy states the Company’s commitment 

to safeguarding personal information provided to it in the course of 

its work and lays out the principles and practices in managing and 

securing such data. The Company should comply with all statutes 

under the Personal Data Protection Act and where the Company 

does not, its primary objective is to ensure compliance as soon as 

practicable.

The Company’s primary commitment with reference to the Data 

Protection Act is to ensure individuals’ personal data are not 

misused. This is done by ensuring that personal data are (i) obtained 

for specified and lawful purposes and not further processed in a 

manner incompatible with that purpose (ii) relevant and not excessive 

(iii) accurate (iv) kept for no longer than necessary (v) protected by 

appropriate security. 

Financial Regulations
The Financial Regulations serves to outline Trybe’s procedures and system 

of controls where income and expenditures are concerned. It covers 

all transactions for goods and services with third parties and applies to 

various stages of incurring expenditures.

Internal Control

As far as practicable and as a form or check and balance, prepara-

tion, verification, approval, authorization and recording functions 

are performed by separate parties, so as to reduce the risk of fraud.

As a guiding principle, unless prior approval is given explicitly in 

writing, no purchases nor payments to purchases can nor should 

be carried out.  The splitting of receipts (to “lower the amount”) is 

strictly prohibited.  

Conflict of Interest - Disclosure

All members of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive are 

to complete and execute the Conflict of Interest Disclosure annually. 

Any staff, interns or volunteers, whom the Chief Executive deems 

necessary, are to complete and execute the Conflict of Interest 

Disclosure upon the start of office/employment/engagement and/or 

at any juncture necessary.

Conflict of Interest – Contract with Vendors

Where members of the Board of Directors, staff, interns or volunteers 

have personal interest in business transactions or contracts that the 

Company may enter into, a declaration of such interest must be 

made as soon as possible using the Conflict of Interest Disclosure 

Statement and if necessary, followed by abstention from discussion 

and decision-making on the matter (including voting on the 

transaction/contract).

All such discussions and evaluations by the Board or relevant 

approving authority in arriving at the final decision on the transaction/

contract must be documented.

Conflict of Interest – Vested Interest in Other Companies

Where members of the Board of Directors, staff, interns or 

volunteers who have vested interest in other Companies that have 

dealings/relationship with the Company, and when matters involving 

the interests of both Companies are discussed, a declaration of such 

interest must be made using the Conflict of Interest Disclosure 

Statement and if necessary, followed by abstention from discussion 

and decision-making on the matter (including voting on the 

transaction/contract).

All such discussions and evaluations by the Board or relevant 

approving authority in arriving at the final decision on such matters 

must be documented.

Conflict of Interest - Joint Ventures

Before the Company enters into any joint venture with external 

parties, the Board must be informed and its approval sought. Where 

members of the Board of Directors, staff, interns or volunteers have 

interest in such ventures, a declaration of such interest must be made 

using the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement and if necessary, 

followed by abstention from discussion and decision-making on the 

matter.

Loans

The Company does not encourage issuing and receiving of loans. 

Loan to Board Members is not allowed.

Company Policies

Financial 
Information
Reserves

Unrestricted Funds (Reserves) 1,117,050

Previous Year

1,227,387 (9%)

% Increase / 
(Decrease)Current Year

Restricted 

	- Building Fund 0    0 -

	- Bursary Fund 0 4,014 (100%)

	- Others 5,932,020 4,699,854 26.21%

Endowment Funds   0  0 -

Total Funds 7,049,070 5,931,255 18.85%

Ratio of Reserves to Annual 
Operating Expenditure*

0.38 0.35 8.57%

Note
*Annual OPEX 2,936,075 3,550,045 (17.29%)

The Charity’s reserves include unrestricted funds. 

The Charity aims to build the level of reserves equivalent to 1.5 times of the annual 

operating expenditure (based on the average OPEX of the past three financial years).

The Charity complies with the directions of the donors when utilising donated amount 

including, but not limited to specific time or event. Trybe’s restricted funds, its purposes 

and balances are disclosed in the Notes to Financial Statements.

The Charity is committed to use its resources in a cost-effective and prudent manner.

Bankers
The Bankers to the Company are DBS Bank, OCBC Bank, Maybank, and Hong Leong 

Finance.

Auditor
The independent external auditor for the Company is Baker Tilly TFW LLP.

Funding Sources
The Charity is financially supported by:

•	 Government grants

•	 Payments and proceeds from programmes and services rendered to clients

•	 Donations
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Financial Statements
Director's Statement

Financial Statements

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Trybe Limited
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Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2021
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Financial Statements
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Financial Statements

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Financial Statements
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Governance
Evaluation Checklist

S/N Code Guideline Code ID

1 Induction and orientation are provided to incoming governing board members upon joining the Board. 1.1.2 Complied

Response

Are there governing board members holding staff appointments? (skip items 2 and 3 if “No”) No

Board Governance

The Treasurer of the charity (or any person holding an equivalent position in the charity, e.g. Finance 
Committee Chairman or a governing board member responsible for overseeing the finances of the 
charity) can only serve a maximum of 4 consecutive years. If the charity has not appointed any 
governing board member to oversee its finances, it will be presumed that the Chairman oversees the 
finances of the charity.

Complied4 1.1.7

5
All governing board members must submit themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment, at least 
once every 3 years.

1.1.8 Complied

The Board conducts self evaluation to assess its performance and effectiveness once during its term or 
every 3 years, whichever is shorter.

1.1.12 Complied6

Is there any governing board member who has served for more than 10 consecutive years? Yes

The charity discloses in its annual report the reasons for retaining the governing board member who has 
served for more than 10 consecutive years.

1.1.13 Complied7

There are documented terms of reference for the Board and each of its committees. 1.2.1 Complied8

9
There are documented procedures for governing board members and staff to declare actual or potential 
conflicts of interest to the Board at the earliest opportunity.

2.1 Complied

Conflict of Interest

Governing board members do not vote or participate in decision making on matters where they have a 
conflict of interest.

Complied10 2.4

11
The Board periodically reviews and approves the strategic plan for the charity to ensure that the 
charity’s activities are in line with the charity’s objectives.

3.2.2 Complied

Strategic Planning

12 The Board approves documented human resources policies for staff. 5.1 Complied

Human Resources and Volunteer Management

There is a documented Code of Conduct for governing board members, staff and volunteers (where 
applicable) which is approved by the Board.

Complied13 5.3

There are processes for regular supervision, appraisal and professional development of staff. Complied14 5.5

Are there volunteers serving in the charity? (skip item 15 if “No”) Yes

There are volunteer management policies in place for volunteers. 5.7 Complied15

16
There is a documented policy to seek the Board’s approval for any loans, donations, grants or financial 
assistance provided by the charity which are not part of the charity’s core charitable programmes.

6.1.1 Complied

Financial Management and Internal Controls

The Board ensures that internal controls for financial matters in key areas are in place with documented 
procedures.

Complied17 6.1.2

The Board ensures that reviews on the charity’s internal controls, processes, key programmes and 
events are regularly conducted.

Complied18 6.1.3

The Board ensures that there is a process to identify, and regularly monitor and review the charity’s key 
risks.

Complied19 6.1.4

The Board approves an annual budget for the charity’s plans and regularly monitors the charity’s 
expenditure.

Complied20 6.2.1

Does the charity invest its reserves (e.g. in fixed deposits)? (skip item 21 if “No”) Yes

The charity has a documented investment policy approved by the Board. Complied21 6.4.3

Did the charity receive cash donations (solicited or unsolicited) during the financial year? (skip item 22 if 
“No”)

Yes

Fundraising Practices

All collections received (solicited or unsolicited) are properly accounted for and promptly deposited by 
the charity.

Complied22 7.2.2

Did the charity receive donations in kind during the financial year? (skip item 23 if “No”) Yes

All donations in kind received are properly recorded and accounted for by the charity. Complied23 7.2.3

Are governing board members remunerated for their services to the Board? (skip items 25 and 26 if 
“No”)

No

Disclosure and Transparency

24
The charity discloses in its annual report — (a) the number of Board meetings in the financial year; and 
(b) the attendance of every governing board member at those meetings.

Complied8.2

Does the charity employ paid staff? Yes

27 No staff is involved in setting his own remuneration. Complied2.2

28

The charity discloses in its annual report — (a) the total annual remuneration for each of its 3 highest 
paid staff who each has received remuneration (including remuneration received from the charity’s 
subsidiaries) exceeding $100,000 during the financial year; and (b) whether any of the 3 highest paid 
staff also serves as a governing board member of the charity.

The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must be presented in bands of $100,000. 
OR The charity discloses that none of its paid staff receives more than $100,000 each in annual 
remuneration.

Complied8.4

Public Image

30
The charity has a documented communication policy on the release of information about the charity 
and its activities across all media platforms.

Complied9.2

29

The charity discloses the number of paid staff who satisfies all of the following criteria: (a) the staff is 
a close member of the family belonging to the Executive Head or a governing board member of the 
charity; (b) the staff has received remuneration exceeding $50,000 during the financial year. 

The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must be presented in bands of $100,000. OR 
The charity discloses that there is no paid staff, being a close member of the family belonging to the 
Executive Head or a governing board member of the charity, who has received remuneration exceeding 
$50,000 during the financial year.

Complied8.5
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